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MISSION
TO DEVELOP A VIBRANT FOOTBALL CULTURE TO
ENHANCE NATIONAL LIFE, STRENGTHEN SOCIAL
HARMONY AND EVOKE THE SINGAPORE SPIRIT.

ANNUAL REPORT
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MILESTONES
FANS RETURN TO STADIUMS

TAQI SETS REFEREEING MILESTONES

The FAS led the way in welcoming fans back
to live sporting events as pandemic restrictions
eased. Collaborating with MCCY, MOH and
SportSG, a Singapore Premier League match in
December 2020 served as a pilot test for 200
fans to watch Tampines Rovers face Geylang
International. Strict protocols, such as swab tests
and safe-distancing, were enforced. That paved
the way for subsequent hosting of international
tournaments, including the AFF Suzuki Cup,
which was attended by over 100,000 fans.

Trailblazer Muhammad Taqi Aljaafari, Singapore’s
first FIFA-accredited Video Match Official, was
selected to officiate at the 2020 Tokyo Olympics.
He served as the Video Assistant Referee for seven
matches across both the men’s and women’s football
competitions, including the men’s gold-medal clash
between Brazil and Spain.

OFFICIAL
INAUGURATION
CEREMONY OF FAS
HEADQUARTERS
An Official Inauguration
Ceremony of the FAS
Headquarters was held on
5 December 2021 to mark
the successful completion
of renovation works, which
included a complete revamp
of the office spaces and the
installation of the new FIFA
Quality Pro GreenFields
Evolution Pro 40 turf for the
pitch. The ceremony was
graced by FIFA President
Mr Gianni Infantino, who
unveiled a commemorative
Inauguration Plate on the
building’s facade.

AFF SUZUKI CUP 2020
The FAS, with the support
of MCCY, MOH, Sport
Singapore and Singapore
Sports Hub, won the bid to
host the 2020 AFF Suzuki
2020 Cup from 5 December
2021 to 1 January 2022. The
region’s flagship tournament
was hosted in its entirety a total of 26 matches from
the group stage to the final
- at Bishan Stadium and the
National Stadium with nine
visiting countries across 30
days. The tournament was
the first full-scale event to be
successfully organised and
hosted in Singapore since the
pandemic started.

ENHANCED BROADCAST
COVERAGE WITH INHOUSE PRODUCTION
The FAS invested $5 million in a new
state-of-the-art in-house production
system and a new production hub
to enhance broadcast coverage of
all Singapore Premier League and
National Team matches locally, which
were shown on six platforms: Singtel,
Starhub, meWATCH, Youtube, FIFA+
and Eleven Sports.
New pitch-side camera systems were
installed and a new partnership with
AE Live produced revamped graphics,
while editorial shows such as SPL
Express and SPL Social created a more
engaging viewing experience for fans.
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LANDMARK SIGNINGS
WITH FFF AND JFA
The FAS signed a three-year
Cooperation Agreement with the
Fédération Française de Football
(FFF) on 26 March 2022 to
further increase its efforts in the
development of women’s football
and collaborate in technical
exchange programmes across
both countries. A Memorandum
of Understanding was also signed
with the Japan Football Association
(JFA) on 1 April 2022, where a
three-year agreement was inked to
continue the working relationship
with the JFA, which first started in
April 2011.

WOMEN’S PREMIER
LEAGUE RETURNS WITH
FIRST-EVER TITLE SPONSOR
Deloitte Singapore became the
first-ever title sponsor of the
top local women’s league, now
known as the Deloitte Women’s
Premier League (WPL). The
historic achievement marked
the return of the women’s game
after a two-year pandemicenforced absence. The three-year
sponsorship added a S$300,000
boost towards advancing the
women’s football scene.

LAUNCH OF SCHOOL
FOOTBALL ACADEMIES
A total of 10 School Football
Academies
(SFA)
were
launched as part of the
Unleash The Roar! project.
The project collaborated with
Spain’s top football league
LaLiga as a strategic partner,
with Spanish coaches taking
the reins as Head Coaches of
the SFAs.

FIRST-EVER WOMEN’S
FOOTBALL CONFERENCE
In conjunction with the annual
AFC Women’s Football Day and
International
Women’s
Day,
the FAS organised the first-ever
Women’s Football Conference
on 5 March 2022. Held at the
Singapore Sports Hub, over
100 guests engaged in a lively
discussion about women’s football
development in Singapore and the
region. The celebration continued
with an Under-12 Football Fiesta,
where over 40 girls completed a
series of games and stations at the
OCBC Square.

NOTABLE FAS
APPOINTMENTS
The FAS welcomed several
new
appointments:
former
Lions Baihakki Khaizan as the
Lead of Special Projects and
Ambassador, Takayuki Nishigaya
as the new Head Coach of the
Singapore Men’s National Team,
and Michael Browne as the FAS’
new Technical Director.

HISTORIC SEA
GAMES WIN
FOR LIONESSES
The Lionesses marked their
return to the Southeast
Asian Games after nearly
two decades by registering
their first win at the biennial
Games in 37 years in their
second match. Izzati Rosni’s
last-gasp strike against Laos
sealed a 1-0 win, after
credible performances in
their earlier matches.
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE
On the continental stage, the Singapore flag was flown
with distinction in Asia’s showpiece club tournament –
the Asian Football Confederation (AFC) Champions
League (ACL). As the first local team to win the SPL in
seven years, the Lion City Sailors earned the right to
make their ACL debut and they grabbed the opportunity
with both hands. Two historic victories were recorded as
they finished with seven points and a credible third place
in their group, behind Japanese giants and eventual
finalist Urawa Red Diamonds.

Dear members,

Outside of the playing field, the Sailors also raised the
bar for the league by enhancing their fan engagement
experience with exciting pre-match and half-time
entertainment, social media campaigns, expansive
food and beverage options and more. The commitment
to building a world-class training facility, dedicated to
bringing the best out of all their teams, promises to be a
gamechanger for local football.

Of course, we cannot forget about the rest of the spectrum
It is my pleasure to present our Annual Report for the of competitions under FAS’ umbrella. While the SPL was
Financial Year of April 2021 to March 2022, on behalf allowed to resume, the others have had to bide their
time – and that finally came at the start of 2022. Having
of the Football Association of Singapore (FAS).
meticulously prepared for such an eventual resumption, I
Before I delve into the happenings of the past year am pleased to witness the return of our various amateur
in Singapore football, I wish to first commend the competitions. The Women’s Premier League returned
tremendous resilience displayed by everyone in the local in style with a landmark sponsorship from Deloitte
fraternity as we weathered the worst of the COVID-19 Singapore, marking the first time that Singapore’s toppandemic and, without a doubt, emerged stronger and flight women’s football league has a title sponsor since its
launch in August 2000. On the men’s front, the Singapore
more united.
Football Leagues 1 and 2, Island Wide League and the
While the restrictions have not completely abated, there Centre of Excellence Under-21 and Under-17 Leagues
is definitely a culpable sense of confidence that life is also resumed in full action. The teams showed immense
gradually returning to the norm that we knew. When I last perseverance and mental toughness when they had to
addressed all of you in the previous Annual Report, we train without matches to look forward to, and it must have
were all working together to overcome the challenges been a massive sense of relief for them to finally be able
that we faced; now, we can take pride and reflect on a to get back to action.
massive past year for Singapore football.
Our achievements were not limited to the domestic arena.
Late in September last year, we were awarded the
hosting rights for Southeast Asia’s premier international
SHOWCASING CAPABILITIES
tournament – the ASEAN Football Federation (AFF)
2021 was a period where the FAS, with the strong Suzuki Cup 2020.
cooperation and backing of our stakeholders and
partners, showcased our capabilities on a large scale. It was a ringing endorsement of the confidence that
From the youth to the elite, football competition returned our fellow ASEAN countries had in Singapore’s ability
with a vengeance at every level as players, officials and to stage all 26 matches of a month-long tournament in
teams returned with much joy to the football pitch.
one single location, and they were not disappointed. A
Local Organising Committee was put together and as
In the AIA Singapore Premier League (SPL), the sole Chairperson, it was a privilege for me to witness firstlocal professional sporting league, crowds flocked hand the incredible amount of work that was put in. From
to the match venues in droves as spectatorship limits the get-go, everyone was single-minded in terms of
eased in stages before eventually being removed. The achieving our goal – to pull off a successful tournament
vibrancy that fans bring to football matches cannot be that would showcase the readiness of our nation with
underestimated and it was a delight to witness stadiums regards to hosting a full-scale international sporting
in full bloom and voice again – a sight sorely missed for event during the pandemic.
the better part of the preceding two years.
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The occasion was exceptionally special with the
presence of FIFA President Gianni Infantino who was
able to grace the Opening Ceremony of the AFF
Suzuki Cup 2020, as the first FIFA President to attend
the tournament. He was impressed by the vast potential
that football in Southeast Asia holds, and keen to work
together to help ASEAN football flourish.
Earlier that day, President Infantino had also attended
the FAS Inauguration Ceremony of our newly renovated
headquarters. I will always be grateful for the assistance
that the governing body has graciously provided through
the FIFA Forward and Covid-19 Relief Fund to elevate
Singapore football and mitigate through uncertainties.
Before the AFF Suzuki Cup 2020 began, I told our Lions
that they had an amazing opportunity to bring hope and
great joy to Singaporeans amid difficult times. I believe
it is more than fair to say that they pulled it off, despite
bowing out at the Semi Final stage on Christmas Day.
A three-man numerical disadvantage against Indonesia
in the second leg did not cow our Lions, who refused
to throw in the towel and gave their hearts and souls
until the final whistle. Victory may be invigorating, but
as Christmas Day proved, heroism and tremendous
fighting spirit can be as galvanising.

as we seek to hit greater heights in Singapore football.
With the Singapore Sports Hub moving back to being
managed by the government, the FAS is committed
towards creating more community football programmes
at the National Stadium, in addition to having our Men’s
and Women’s National Teams play there on a regular
basis.
The FAS’ signings of Memorandums of Understanding
with the Japan Football Association and the French
Football Federation have come about as we recognise
the need to tap on the expertise of others and absorb
their best practices as we transform local football.
On the technology front, we have kickstarted the plan
to have the Video Assistant Referee (VAR) as a mainstay
feature in our local professional league. The FAS held
a kick-off meeting in Singapore in February 2022 with
key FIFA VAR experts who shared their knowledge about
the implementation of the technology with the FAS VAR
project team. Due to the complexity of the project and
existing dependencies, it is absolutely necessary to
coordinate and organise the project from the beginning
and we are grateful to FIFA for guiding us every step of
the way as we work towards full implementation.

We will also look to build upon our current efforts to
grow the women’s football landscape in Singapore not
just on the pitch but also through meaningful engagement
sessions such as our first Women’s Football Conference,
held in March 2022 at the Singapore Sports Hub, in
celebration of the annual Asian Football Confederation
(AFC) Women’s Football Day and International Women’s
Day. The conference was graced by Minister for Culture,
Community and Youth Edwin Tong, who shared his
fervent support in advancing the women’s game through
Even now, my chest swells with pride as I recall the the inclusion of females in Unleash the Roar’s School
resounding success of the AFF Suzuki Cup 2020. Tireless, Football Academies.
non-stop work from our FAS family, the workforce and
our stakeholders saw the tournament run like clockwork The landmark Unleash the Roar! national project is an
and conclude without a hitch. Plaudits and praise came exciting long-term journey that has been embarked
from all corners – the countries involved, the AFF, and upon and the fresh appointments of Takayuki Nishigaya
FIFA – and I have nothing but never-ending gratitude as Men’s National Team Head Coach and Michael
Browne as Technical Director will serve to establish a
for every single one of you who contributed to this.
solid starting platform.
It was only fitting for us to hold an appreciation event
for the people who worked tirelessly and made hosting I want to end my message with a bold declaration –
the tournament a great success. The then-Parliamentary there is much more to come for Singapore football, and
Secretary for Culture, Community and Youth & Social it is a vision that every single one of us have to believe in
and Family Development, Mr Eric Chua, was the guest- and take to heart.
of-honour and paid tribute to the FAS, workforce and
volunteers for having played a very important part
in Singapore’s efforts to bring back vibrancy to the
sporting ecosystem as we emerge stronger together
Yours Sincerely,
from the pandemic.
The vast majority of the fans stayed behind to applaud
coach Tatsuma Yoshida and our players after the final
whistle, in recognition of their valiant efforts even as
all the odds were stacked against them. They gave a
standing ovation and sang the National Anthem with
fervour and gusto. The heart-warming scenes will live
long in our collective memory on a night that the Lions
won over the hearts of all Singaporean fans.

MORE TO COME
Having demonstrated just what we can come together
and achieve, I firmly believe that we have to build on it

Lim Kia Tong
President
Football Association of Singapore
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GENERAL SECRETARY’S MESSAGE
established to enhance broadcast coverage with new
in-house production capabilities; the systems were put
in place prior to this season and subsequently refined.
The fan experience was also boosted with the SPL
Real Manager fantasy football game, which allows
engagement with their favourite players and teams in
new interactive ways.
My FAS colleagues were also hard at work establishing
the foundations for the return of all our other domestic
leagues – the Deloitte Women’s Premier League,
Singapore Football Leagues, Island Wide League,
Centre of Excellence Under-21 and Under-17 Leagues
– that had all been on hiatus during the pandemic.
Another key development that we kick-started is the
Video Assistant Referee (VAR) Planning Phase, which
began in late 2021 as part of our long-term objective
to equip match officials with the modern tools to make
consistent and correct decisions.

Dear friends in football,
If 2020 and the better part of 2021 were the periods
that showcased the football fraternity’s resilience and
tenacity to withstand the game-changing challenges
brought about by the pandemic, this last year of review
certainly reflected the executionary capabilities of
everyone, ensuring we gradually regained a sense of
normalcy after weathering the impact of COVID-19.

Amid all these, a momentous occasion took place –
the Unleash the Roar! (UTR!) initiative was officially
launched last March. A multi-stakeholder national
project, it aims to galvanise our football ecosystem and
bring sustainable success to Singapore. The standards
of Singapore football will be improved across all
levels, with a structured football development system
that can fuel dreams of young Singaporeans. Several
components of the UTR! have started to fall into
place, like the establishment of the School Football
Academies (SFAs) and strategic partners such as
LaLiga coming on board to complement localisation
plans. The entire fraternity can look forward to much
more as we rally the nation behind a shared dream to
raise the level of Singapore football.

We stood firm, innovated and adapted in a heartening
show of collective resilience to ensure that football
carried on to the best of our abilities – but there is no
doubt that each and every one of us were looking Furthermore, we have warmly welcomed the
forward to resuming full action on the pitch.
appointment of our new Technical Director Michael
Browne; he is supported by FAS Head of Methodology
With restrictions easing further, the football fraternity Philippe Aw, who was also redesignated as our
knew that we had to forge ahead and this was possible Assistant Technical Director. The duo will be working
only because we had already made preparations to closely on enhancing the FAS’ football philosophy
do so, while in the midst of the pandemic, with the and serve a crucial role in monitoring the progress of
help of many stakeholders, including our member UTR! and the envisaged milestones.
clubs.
Japanese coach Takayuki Nishigaya was appointed
MOVING BACK TO THE NORM to helm the Men’s National Team, having come highly
The AIA Singapore Premier League (SPL) is a recommended by the Japanese Football Association.
prime example. With the spectator capacity limit Ably supported by Assistant Coaches Koichiro Iizuka
being gradually eased throughout last season and and former national captain Nazri Nasir, he will look
eventually removed earlier this year, we were able to build on the good work of predecessor Tatsuma
to make the transitions seamless with little disruption Yoshida.
to league operations. Off the pitch, plans were

Convinced by Singapore’s readiness and status as
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one of Southeast Asia’s safest countries, the FAS’
confidence in ensuring a smooth and successful
execution of a competition was affirmed in September
by the AFF Council’s decision to award our nation
the hosting rights of the AFF Suzuki Cup 2020.
With the support of key stakeholders and partners,
including the Ministry of Health, Ministry of Trade
and Industry, Ministry of Culture, Community and
Youth, Sport Singapore and the Singapore Sports
Hub, the Singapore football fraternity rose to the
occasion – within a period of one-and-a-half months
– a massive exercise of coordination and project
management took place to make the month-long
Suzuki Cup happen in December last year.

Women’s Football Day, Deloitte Singapore becoming
the first ever title sponsor of the Women’s Premier
League and one of our stars, Putri Syaliza, becoming
the first female Singaporean to play in Thailand’s top
flight with Chonburi FC.

Happen, it did, and much more – thanks to the
tireless work of the entire workforce, including nearly
300 staff and over 200 volunteers, the hosting was
a resounding success. Over all 26 matches held in
a span of a month, we hosted nine neighbouring
countries while executing the tournament impeccably
amid prevailing safe management measures as the
first sporting event staged here to see over 10,000
spectators per match-day since the pandemic began.
I must express my utmost gratitude and admiration to
my FAS team and everyone else who was involved
in one way or another – it was truly an immense feat
that proved what we can achieve if we come together
as one. A sense of unity was also seen amongst the
stands, as we banded together for the Lions’, showing
what it means to be #ONESTRONG. We appreciate
and thank the fans for their spirit as the Lions’ twelfth
man.

The FAS also saw a familiar face who has crossed over
to the “other” side – we were delighted to welcome
ex-Lion Baihakki Khaizan to the FAS family earlier
this year. With a wealth of experience from a storied
playing career that has seen him earn 140 international
caps – the second-most in Singapore history and
ply his trade in three overseas countries (Indonesia,
Malaysia, Thailand), Baihakki’s appointment as Lead
(Special Projects) and Ambassador at the FAS will
bring invaluable insight to the table.

LOOKING FORWARD
It would be remiss of me not to highlight the
achievements of our Lionesses. Prior to last year’s AFC
Women’s Asian Cup Qualifiers in September, they
had not played an international match in two years.
Since then, the improvement that has taken place
has been gratifying to witness. In April, the Lionesses
registered their first win in four years by beating Papua
New Guinea at home – a landmark event as the first
ever ticketed women’s football match here. More
was to come – at the 31st Southeast Asian Games, a
last-gasp strike by striker Izzati Rosni clinched a 1-0
win against Laos and with it, the Lionesses’ first win
at the tournament in 37 years. They would go on to
register their first AFF Women’s Championship win in
18 years by beating Indonesia two months later. The
team was also set for an Asian Games debut later in
2022, until the event was postponed.
These milestone moments for the National Team came
alongside other highlights – a first-ever Women’s
Football Conference held in conjunction with the AFC

Women’s football is a vital component in the UTR!
project and I am excited to see what lies ahead for
the future of the women’s game in Singapore, which
has demonstrated tremendous potential for further
growth with the appropriate resources. Strides have
been made and we cannot stop here, as we seek to
uplift women’s football development in tandem with
their male counterparts.

Baihakki was one of two Lions who decided to call
time on their football career, the other being midfielder
Hafiz Sujad. The 31-year-old announced his retirement,
bringing an end to a professional football journey
that began in 2009. The son of former Singapore
international Abu Sujad, the nephew of Singapore
legend Mohamed Noh Hussein and the cousin of
Fandi Ahmad, Hafiz amassed 44 international caps
and was a mainstay in the Singapore Premier League
for the better part of his 13-year football profession.
With all that has been said, I believe that there is
plenty to look forward to as we start to pick up steam
again in all that we do. It is vital that we do not lose
focus of our goal of bringing Singapore football to
greater heights and as always, I am sincerely thankful
to all our member clubs, stakeholders and partners
who stand beside us as we forge ahead to another
year.

Yours Sincerely,

Yazeen Buhari
General Secretary
Football Association of Singapore
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TEAM FAS

COUNCIL MEMBERS (2021-2025)

MAH BOW TAN

A/P HO PENG KEE

DR DINESH NAIR

LIM TONG HAI

CHAIRMAN, GLOBALCITIES
CONSULT PTE LTD

Former Senior Minister of State
for Law and Home Affairs

CARDIOLOGIST,
HEART MATTERS MEDICAL CENTRE

TEAM LEAD,
SPORT SINGAPORE

Since 29 April 2017

Since 29 April 2017

Former Minister for
National Development

3/4 Council Meetings

4/4 Council Meetings

DARWIN JALIL

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (2021-2025)

GROUP EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
PROJECT VAULTS GROUP PTE LTD

Since 29 April 2017
4/4 Council Meetings

LIM KIA TONG

BERNARD TAN

LIONEL LEWIS

PRESIDENT

Since 29 April 2017

DEPUTY PRESIDENT

Since 29 April 2017

SENIOR MANAGER,
NANYANG POLYTECHNIC

LAWYER, HIN TAT AUGUSTINE
& PARTNERS
4/4 Council Meetings

COUNTRY PRESIDENT SINGAPORE,
SINAR MAS GROUP
4/4 Council Meetings

Since 28 April 2021
4/4 Council Meetings

HARMAN ALI
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER,
STIE PTE LTD

S. THAVANESON
VICE PRESIDENT

TEO HOCK SENG
VICE PRESIDENT

RIZAL RASUDIN, PBM
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
SINGAPORE MALAY YOUTH
LIBRARY ASSOCIATION

Since 29 April 2017
4/4 Council Meetings

GOH TAT CHUAN
APAC MARKET DIRECTOR,
HEXAGON PURUS GMBH

Since 28 April 2021
3/4 Council Meetings

Since 28 April 2021
4/4 Council Meetings

Since 29 April 2017

Since 29 April 2017

JULIE TEO

ZAKI MA’AROF

FELLOW CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN,
KOMOCO HOLDINGS PTE LTD
4/4 Council Meetings

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR,
SPORT SINGAPORE

MANAGER DIRECTOR,
YAMA MEDICAL SUPPLIES

Since 28 April 2021

Since 28 April 2021

3/4 Council Meetings

4/4 Council Meetings

RAZALI SA’AD

BEN TENG KIAN JEN

VICE PRESIDENT

VICE PRESIDENT

Since 29 April 2017

Since 28 April 2021

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR,
SPORT SINGAPORE
4/4 Council Meetings

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
VECTOR INFOTECH PTE LTD
4/4 Council Meetings

4/4 Council Meetings

EX-OFFICIOS (NO VOTING RIGHTS)
LELAINA LIM
TREASURER

YAZEEN BUHARI
GENERAL SECRETARY

Since 29 April 2017

Since 1 September 2018

GROUP CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
EU YAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LTD
4/4 Council Meetings

FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF
SINGAPORE
4/4 Council Meetings

No staff of the FAS is related to any member of the FAS Council, or the General Secretary.
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COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSONS

AFFILIATES

STANDING COMMITTEES (2021-2025)

ORDINARY MEMBERS

FOOTBALL DEVELOPMENT AND EXCELLENCE

LIM KIA TONG

WOMEN’S

JULIE TEO

COMPETITIONS

RAZALI SA’AD

PLAYERS’ WELFARE

GOH TAT CHUAN

COMMUNITY OUTREACH & GRASSROOTS

BEN TENG KIAN JEN

DISABILITY & SPECIAL NEEDS

DARWIN JALIL

ADMINISTRATION & FINANCE

S. THAVANESON

FACILITIES

BERNARD TAN

PLAYERS’ STATUS

LIM KIA TONG

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

TEO HOCK SENG

INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS

LIM KIA TONG

MEDICAL

DR DINESH NAIR

REFEREES

LIM TONG HAI

SECURITY

RIZAL RASUDIN, PBM

LEGAL

LIM KIA TONG

INDEPENDENT COMMITTEES (2021-2025)
AUDIT & COMPLIANCE

JACKSON YAP

ELECTORAL

RAYMOND NG

ELECTORAL APPEAL

EU HAI MENG

JUDICIAL BODIES (2021-2025)
DISCIPLINARY

K BALA CHANDRAN

APPEAL

ABDUL SALIM AHMED IBRAHIM

ETHICS

JEFFREY BEH

CLUB LICENSING (2021-2025)
FIRST INSTANCE BODY

MOHD MUZAMMIL MOHD

APPEAL BODY

AZIZ TAYABALI
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ADMIRALTY FOOTBALL CLUB

POLICE SPORTS ASSOCIATION

ADMIRALTY COMMUNITY SPORTS NETWORK

PROJECT VAULTS OXLEY SPORTS CLUB

ALBIREX NIIGATA FC (SINGAPORE)

SIMEI UNITED FOOTBALL CLUB

BALESTIER KHALSA FOOTBALL CLUB

SINGAPORE CRICKET CLUB

BALESTIER UNITED RECREATION CLUB

SINGAPORE GOVT SVS FOOTBALL LEAGUE

BISHAN BARX FOOTBALL CLUB

SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION

BUKIT TIMAH FOOTBALL CLUB

SINGTEL RECREATION CLUB

EUNOS CRESCENT FOOTBALL CLUB

SINGAPORE XIN HUA FOOTBALL CLUB

GEYLANG INTERNATIONAL FOOTBALL CLUB

ST MICHAEL’S SOCCER ASSOCIATION

GEYLANG SERAI FOOTBALL CLUB

SOUTH AVENUE SPORTS CLUB

GFA SPORTING WESTLAKE FOOTBALL CLUB

STARLIGHT SOCCERITES FOOTBALL CLUB

GFA VICTORIA FOOTBALL CLUB

TAMPINES ROVERS FOOTBALL CLUB

GYMKHANA FOOTBALL CLUB

TANJONG PAGAR UNITED FOOTBALL CLUB

HOUGANG UNITED FOOTBALL CLUB

TIONG BAHRU FOOTBALL CLUB

JUNGFRAU PUNGGOL FOOTBALL CLUB

WARRIORS FOOTBALL CLUB

KAKI BUKIT SPORTS CLUB

WARWICK KNIGHTS FOOTBALL CLUB

KATONG FOOTBALL CLUB

WINCHESTER ISLA FOOTBALL CLUB

KEMBANGAN UNITED FOOTBALL CLUB

WOODLANDS LIONS FOOTBALL CLUB

LION CITY SAILORS PRIVATE LIMITED

WOODLANDS WELLINGTON FOOTBALL CLUB

MATTAR SAILORS FOOTBALL CLUB

YISHUN SENTEK MARINERS FOOTBALL CLUB
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ASSOCIATE MEMBERS
AYER RAJAH GRYPHONS FOOTBALL CLUB

YAZEEN BUHARI
GENERAL SECRETARY

BEDOK SOUTH AVENUE SPORTS CLUB

TECHNICAL

BUSSORAH YOUTHS SPORTS CLUB
COMMONWEALTH COSMOS FOOTBALL CLUB
ESPZEN PTE LTD

TAKAYUKI NISHIGAYA

MICHAEL BROWNE

PHILIPPE AW

VISAKAN SUBRAMANIAN
SENIOR HEAD TECHNICAL
ADMINISTRATION

HEAD, NATIONAL
TEAMS MANAGEMENT

ZAINUDEEN HASSAN

RAMESHPAL SINGH

CHEN WANXIN

MEN’S NATIONAL TEAM COACH

STEPHEN NG

WOMEN’S NATIONAL TEAM COACH

TECHNICAL DIRECTOR

FOOTBALL REFEREES ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE
GDT CIRCUIT FOOTBALL CLUB
JSSL SOCCER SCHOOL & LEAGUE PTE LTD

ASSISTANT TECHNICAL DIRECTOR,
HEAD OF METHODOLOGY

ERIC ONG

MIDDLE RANGERS FOOTBALL CLUB
PASIRIAN LIONS FOOTBALL CLUB
PRISON SPORTS & RECREATION CLUB
ROYAL ARION WOMEN’S FOOTBALL CLUB

HEAD,
COACH EDUCATION & DEVELOPMENT

HEAD,
GOALKEEPING

LEAD,
GRASSROOTS & WOMEN’S FOOTBALL

ADMINISTRATION

SINGAPORE FOOTBALL COACHES ASSOCIATION
SINGAPORE HOTEL ASSOCIATION
STILL AERION WOMEN’S FOOTBALL CLUB
TEMASEK POLYTECHNIC FOOTBALL CLUB

GERARD CHRISTOPHER
CHIEF,
GENERAL SECRETARY’S OFFICE

TINA SAW

FABIAN CHEW

CHIEF, CORPORATE SERVICES
(FINANCE & PROCUREMENT)

DIRECTOR,
HUMAN CAPITAL & I.T.

VERDE CRESTA COMBINED SPORTS CLUB
WESTWOOD EL’JUNIOR FOOTBALL CLUB
WOODLANDS RANGERS FOOTBALL CLUB

MUSTAFFA EHSAN

JONATHAN WONG

ALOYSIUS VETHA

NAZEER HUSSAIN

DIRECTOR,
CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

DIRECTOR,
COMMERCIAL & MARKETING

WOODLANDS UNITED FOOTBALL CLUB
WOODLANDS WARRIORS FOOTBALL CLUB
X- LEAGUE

DIRECTOR,
COMPETITIONS

DIRECTOR,
REFEREES
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CASIO SINGAPORE
Casio Singapore came on board as an official partner of the
FAS and the Lions in a campaign partnership during the AFF
Suzuki Cup 2020. The Japanese multinational electronics
manufacturer launched a limited-edition Singapore Lions
G-SHOCK watch, with the Lions motif infused in the red
and white design. The timepiece was worn by all of our
Singapore Men’s National Team players and their officials
throughout the tournament.
.

SEA LIMITED
SEA Limited signed a year-long partnership with the FAS in
support of the Singapore Men’s National Team. As training
kit sponsors, the tech conglomerate’s logo was reflected on
the Lions’ training gear for all Singapore matches during
the AFF Suzuki Cup 2020.

ACCOR
FAS partnered with French hotel group Accor as the official
accommodation partner for three tournaments hosted in
Singapore - the AFC Under-23 Asian Cup 2022 Qualifiers,
the AFF Suzuki Cup 2020 and the FAS Tri-Nation Series.
The partnership allowed over 10 Member Associations to
enjoy the luxurious hospitality of the Fairmount and Grand
Mercure Roxy Hotel as their home away from home.

.
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2021 AIA SINGAPORE PREMIER LEAGUE
With the formulation and enforcement of
stringent match and league COVID-19 protocols
including safe management measures, limits on
spectatorship and a drinks break, normal service
resumed in the 26th season of Singapore’s
professional football league after a disrupted
2020 calendar. Eight teams fought it out in three
rounds from March to October 2021, with a total
of 84 matches being played. An exciting title
race ensued between the Lion City Sailors (LCS)
and Albirex Niigata (S), with both teams neck
and neck until the final day as the Sailors held
their nerve to win their first ever SPL title.

The SPL was the first professional sports competition
in Singapore to see supporters allowed back in, with
up to 1,000 fans permitted at each game by the end
of the season as they witnessed history being made.
Meanwhile, Hougang United and Tampines Rovers
finished as the top two local sides behind LCS to seal
qualification for the 2022 AFC Cup.
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ENHANCED BROADCAST COVERAGE
WITH IN-HOUSE PRODUCTION
As part of plans to bring the viewing experience
of SPL matches to greater heights, the FAS beefed
up their broadcast capabilities in 2022 through a
new in-house production set-up – made possible
with next-generation FIFA-certified softwarebased football productions systems that were
supplied as part of a five-year contract with
Ideal Systems. Two production control rooms
and one green screen studio were built in a new
SPL production hub housed at the Jalan Besar
Stadium. New pitch-side camera systems - which
allow up to 40-times zoom - have also been
installed, while network connectivity has been
improved to deliver enhanced reliability and a
smoother viewing experience. A new partnership
with AE Live enabled revamped graphics, such as
for line-ups, to add dynamism to matches.

Part of the broadcast strategy was also to ensure
editorial value-add with talents like Ashikin Hashim,
Rhysh Roshan Rai, John Dykes and Mark Richmond
on commentary duty or building a variety of offpitch content around the SPL. A partnership was also
reached with Mediacorp to broadcast every SPL
match on meWATCH, alongside the current broadcast
on Singtel, StarHub, YouTube, FIFA+ and ELEVEN
Sports. No stone has been left unturned in the FAS’
bid to bring unprecedented value to fans, as the most
widely broadcasted live sporting event in Singapore.
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PLAYER STATISTICS

2021 SINGAPORE PREMIER LEAGUE
POSITION
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TEAM

GP

W

D

L

GF

GA

GD

PTS

1

Lion City Sailors FC

21

14

6

1

59

21

38

48

2

Albirex Niigata FC (S)

21

13

7

1

50

19

31

46

3

Hougang United FC

21

10

4

7

48

40

8

34

4

Tampines Rovers FC

21

7

6

8

48

51

-3

27

5

Tanjong Pagar United FC

21

5

7

9

36

49

-13

22

6

Geylang International FC

21

6

2

13

33

52

-19

20

7

Balestier Khalsa FC

21

5

4

12

34

52

-18

19

8

Young Lions

21

4

4

13

26

50

-24

16

Tomoyuki Doi

Armin Bošnjak

19 Goals

11 Assists

Hougang United

TEAM STATISTICS

Takahiro Koga Shahdan Sulaiman Ryhan Stewart

Tampines Rovers

Kazuki Hashioka
Albirex Niigata (S)
2,034 Minutes

Albirex Niigata (S)

Lion City Sailors

8 Clean Sheets

Kosuke Chiku

Shuya Yamashita

2,034 Minutes

2,034 Minutes

Albirex Niigata (S)

Albirex Niigata (S)

GOAL STATISTICS

59

26

MOST GOALS
SCORED

TEAM WHO SCORED
MOST IN THE
FIRST HALF

37

TEAM WHO SCORED
MOST IN THE
SECOND HALF

6

TEAMS WITH THE
MOST GOALS FROM
FREE-KICKS

18

334

144

190

51

TOTAL GOALS

FIRST HALF

SECOND HALF

GOALS SCORED
AFTER 80 MINUTES

Young Lions

1,487 Passes

109 Tackles

Takahiro Koga

Albirex Niigata (S)
2,034 Minutes

DIRECT

INDIRECT

8

13

GOALS SCORED
FROM FREE-KICKS

7
TOTAL NUMBER
OF HAT-TRICKS

LONGEST UNBEATEN
RUN

33 33

25

25

24
18

24

23

20

6

4

4

6

4

6

6
3

HAMI SYAHIN

FASTEST GOAL
13 AUGUST 2021
ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) VS HOUGANG UNITED

FASTEST GOAL BY A SUBSTITUTE
14 MARCH 2021
YOUNG LIONS VS BALESTIER KHALSA

LATEST GOAL
7 APRIL 2021
HOUGANG UNITED VS TANJONG PAGAR

SHAHDAN SULAIMAN

KIYOSHIRO TSUBOI

TOMOYUKI DOI

PLAYERS WITH MOST GOALS
FROM DIRECT FREE-KICKS

PLAYER WITH MOST
NUMBER OF HAT-TRICKS

PLAYER WITH MOST
NUMBER OF HAT-TRICKS

66 SECONDS

20

8

7

REO KUNIMOTO

TOMOYUKI DOI

34 SECONDS

96 MINS 11 SECONDS

7
4

4
0

2 GOALS

2 HAT-TRICKS

2 HAT-TRICKS

MEDIA VALUE STATISTICS
TOTAL PLAYERS

TOTAL NO. OF U23 PLAYERS

TOTAL NO. OF FOREIGNERS

CARD STATISTICS

$9.1M+

$92M+

$14.7M+

$1.8M+

PRINT

DIGITAL

ON-AIR

IN-STADIA

UP FROM 7.6M

UP FROM 82.4M

UP FROM 10.5M

VIEWERSHIP STATISTICS

308
YELLOW CARDS

11

4

26

53

3

RED CARDS

DIRECT
RED CARDS

PENALTIES
SCORED

TEAM WITH MOST
NUMBER OF
YELLOW CARDS

TEAM WITH MOST
NUMBER OF
RED CARDS

Total Matches Broadcasted
Total Viewership
Total Attendance (under government-permitted capacity)
Highest Viewed Live Match (10 Oct - Lion City Sailors vs Balestier Khalsa)

81
2,596,684
15,994
92,713

UP FROM 1.2M
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Albirex Niigata (S) goalkeeper Takahiro
Koga made history by being the first ever
winner of the SPL Golden Glove after
registering a league-high eight clean sheets,
while a total of 15 FAS Recognition Awards
were also handed out – with recipients
including Daniel Bennett, who completed a

FAS AWARDS NIGHT 2021
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TOMOYUKI DOI
SPL Top Scorer

TAKAHIRO KOGA

record-extending 23rd league season and
long-serving National Teams’ equipment
manager Omar Mohamed. The event
brought the curtain down on a second
consecutive year in the face of challenges
brought forth by the pandemic.

OMAR BIN MOHAMED

FAS Recognition Award, Efficient Resource
Management Long Service Award
(15 Years of Service)

SPL Golden Glove

TOMOYUKI DOI

NUR ADAM ABDULLAH

AIA PLAYER OF THE YEAR

AIA YOUNG PLAYER OF THE YEAR

HOUGANG UNITED

LION CITY SAILORS

ALBIREX NIIGATA FC (S)
Singapore Pools Fair Play

JANSEN FOO

PANG YOK BOON THOMAS

FAS Recognition Award, Efficient Resource
Management Long Service Award
(33 Years of Service)

SELECT Referee of the Year

RONNIE KOH MIN KIAT
SELECT Assistant Referee
of the Year

SIAW WOON CHONG

SUZANNA FOO

FAS Recognition Award, Efficient Resource
Management Long Service Award
(25 Years of Service)

Photo of the Year

DILENJIT SINGH
Story of the Year

GABRIEL QUAK

CLEMENT TEO

SELECT GOAL OF THE YEAR

POLAR MINERAL WATER
COACH OF THE YEAR

LION CITY SAILORS

The annual event took place at the Aux Media
studio and saw outstanding individuals and
officials from the SPL receive awards to recognise
their performances, with Hougang United
sweeping two of the top three accolades. The
Cheetahs’ Japanese striker Tomoyuki Doi took
the AIA Player of the Year gong after a stellar
season in which he finished top scorer with 19
goals, while head coach Clement Teo

HOUGANG UNITED

became the first Singaporean since Richard Bok
(SAFFC, 2009) to be named the Polar Mineral
Water Coach of the Year after leading them
to third place – their highest league finish in
history. Meanwhile, Lion City Sailors defender
Nur Adam Abdullah won the AIA Young Player
of the Year having enjoyed a breakout season
with the champions.

DANIEL BENNETT

FAS Recognition Award, Vibrant
Football Culture

AUGUSTINE ARLANDO
LAI BOON TECK
VISVA NATHAN S/O KRISHNAN
SANTHAN S/O NAGALINGAM
FAS Recognition Award,
Capability Development

A RAAMASAMY

FAS Recognition Award, Vibrant
Football Culture
(47 Years of Service)

JITA SINGH
SEAK POH LEONG

SRIKISAN RAMDAS

FAS Recognition Award,
Capability Development

JIMMY CHEONG

QUEENSWAY SECONDARY SCHOOL
BOWEN SECONDARY SCHOOL

FAS Recognition Award, Vibrant
Football Culture
(46 Years of Service)

FAS Recognition Award, Vibrant
Football Culture
(41 Years of Service)

FAS Recognition Award, Youth Development
and Efficient Resource Management
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TEAM OF THE YEAR
GOALKEEPER

TAKAHIRO KOGA

DEFENDERS

KAZUKI HASHIOKA

MIDFIELDERS

RYOYA TANIGUCHI

FORWARDS

TOMOYUKI DOI

JORGE FELLIPE

KAISHU YAMAZAKI

STIPE PLAZIBAT

SHUYA YAMASHITA

SHAHDAN SULAIMAN

ŠIME ŽUŽUL

NUR ADAM ABDULLAH

TOMOYUKI DOI
Hougang United

RYOYA TANIGUCHI
Albirex Niigata (S)

STIPE PLAZIBAT
Lion City Sailors

NUR ADAM ABDULLAH
Lion City Sailors

ŠIME ŽUŽUL

KAISHU YAMAZAKI

Balestier Khalsa

Hougang United

JORGE FELLIPE
Lion City Sailors

SHAHDAN SULAIMAN
Lion City Sailors

TAKAHIRO KOGA
Albirex Niigata (S)

SHUYA YAMASHITA
Albirex Niigata (S)

KAZUKI HASHIOKA
Albirex Niigata (S)
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eSPL RETURNS FOR SECOND EDITION
Having debuted in 2020 as a pilot project for the
league’s strategy to expand the domestic game
into the esports arena, the SPL’s own football video
game tournament – dubbed eSPL – continued in
2021 with the support from partners Redd+E Sports,
Zenway Productions and The Gym. Featuring all
eight Singapore-based teams from the SPL, two
players from each club pitted their skills in eFootball
Pro Evolution Soccer (eFootball PES) 2020 – with

all teams dressed in their actual team jerseys, and
players and officials represented accordingly in the
video game.
Balestier Khalsa’s Riki Kimura and Aqil Yazid
defeated Young Lions’ Harhys Stewart and Joel
Chew to be crowned champions, while Lutfiah
Hannah edged fellow Lioness Nadhra Aqilah to
win the women’s category.
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SPL REAL MANAGER BRINGS FANS
CLOSER TO THE ACTION
As part of digital adoption and efforts to improve
engagement with SPL fans, the SPL launched its first
fantasy football game – the SPL Real Manager – in
March 2022 courtesy of a partnership with Funatix
Club worth USD $600,000. The SPL Real Manager
allows fans to compete with their friends by
selecting a team of virtual SPL players, who collect
points based on how their real-life counterparts
fare. Downloadable as an application from both
the Google Play Store and Apple Store, and also

playable on a computer web browser, the SPL Real
Manager garnered a total of 3,763 sign-ups during
the beta version before the game was officially
launched in late April in time for the second round
of the 2022 SPL season.
Attractive prizes are given out monthly and also at
the end of the season, with the three highest-scoring
players set to get their hands on PRISM+ appliances
and a home Singapore National Team Jersey.
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WOMEN’S PREMIER LEAGUE RETURNS
WITH FIRST-EVER TITLE SPONSOR

AFC UNDER-23
ASIAN CUP QUALIFIERS - GROUP H

The women’s game in Singapore received a huge
boost with the announcement of a first ever title
sponsorship for the country’s top-flight women’s
football league since its launch in August 2000.
Now known as the Deloitte Women’s Premier League
(WPL), the league returned for a 21st season on 28

The FAS’ Competitions Department spearheaded
the Local Organising Committee and successfully
organised the AFC U23 Group H Qualifiers
between 21 October 2021 to 1 November 2021. A
total of six matches were played at the Jalan Besar
Stadium, between Singapore, Timor-Leste, Korea
Republic and the Philippines under COVID-19
protocols as per AFC’s Match Operations Protocol
During COVID-19 Pandemic.

Courtesy of good results in the previous edition
of the Qualifiers in 2019, Singapore was placed
in Pot 2 in the East Zone and grouped alongside
Timor-Leste, the Philippines and defending AFC
U23 Asian Cup champions, Korea Republic. Due
to the COVID-19 pandemic, these were the first
international matches for the Under-22s since the
2019 SEA Games and Nazri Nasir’s boys put up
a valiant fight.

It was the first international tournament to be hosted
in Singapore during the pandemic. Visiting teams
arrived at least four days prior to the first matchday,
while the tournament period was extended to
provide additional rest between matchdays to
ensure the qualifiers ran smoothly. Defending
champions Korea Republic won all three matches
to qualify for the tournament proper in Uzbekistan.

A 2-2 draw against Timor-Leste and a 1-0 win
over Philippines meant they went into the last
game against Korea with a chance of qualification.
A 5-1 defeat to the defending champions meant
Singapore missed out on a place in the Finals, with
the winners and four best runners-up across the
11 qualifying groups reaching Uzbekistan 2022,
but they can take heart from being the only side in
Group H to breach the Koreans’ goal.

May 2022 after a two-year pandemic-enforced
absence with seven clubs. Deloitte’s three-year
sponsorship, with an option for two additional
years, adds a S$300,000 boost towards elevating
the professionalism of the game.

The FAS sold broadcast rights of the AFC U23
Asian Cup Qualifiers Group H matches to have
all matches showcased live on Singtel. In-stadium
advertising spaces were also sold, to garner
an overall total of close to SGD $100,000 in
commercial and broadcast rights for the three
match-days.
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AFF SUZUKI CUP 2020
Having won the bid to host the AFF Suzuki Cup
2020, the FAS spearheaded the Local Organising
Committee (LOC), with FAS President Mr Lim Kia
Tong as its Chairman, and successfully organised
the tournament from 5 December 2021 to 1 January
2022 – marking the first time since 1996 that
Singapore has hosted the biennial tournament in its
entirety from the group stage to the finals. With a
total of over 100,000 spectators attending the 26
matches (10 at Bishan Stadium and 16 at National
Stadium) across the 30-day period, the first full-
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MEN’S NATIONAL TEAM PERFORMANCE
scale international tournament to be organised and
hosted in Singapore since the pandemic started
turned out to be a remarkable success. Hosting nine
visiting teams in Timor Leste, Thailand, Philippines,
Myanmar, Indonesia, Malaysia, Cambodia, Laos
and Vietnam, and with the challenges brought
forth by COVID-19 mitigated successfully, the LOC
managed to pull it off with their meticulous planning
and without any mishaps - a real testament to the
staff and volunteers’ dedication and resilience.

After a delay of one year, the international flagship
tournament took place in a centralised format with
Singapore named the host country. Led by Tatsuma
Yoshida, the Lions performed admirably - notching
three straight wins over Myanmar, Philippines and
Timor-Leste in the group stage to qualify for the last
four for the first time since 2012. A 1-1 draw against
Indonesia in the first leg of the semi-finals set the tone for
one of the most dramatic and unforgettable matches to
ever take place at the Singapore Sports Hub. Reduced
first to 10, then nine men, the Lions displayed huge
spades of courage, fighting spirit and determination

to take the game to the Indonesians and were minutes
away - including a saved penalty in the dying minutes
of regulation time - from reaching the final. Extra time
proved too much for the embattled Lions, who were
further reduced to eight men towards the end as they
eventually went down in a 4-2 defeat in the second leg to
lose 5-3 on aggregate. It was, however, a performance
for the ages, and one that reignited the flames of passion
of every fan in the stands and at home. The Lions may
have lost the battle that night, but managed to win the
hearts of many.

GROUP A

SINGAPORE
PHILIPPINES
SINGAPORE
THAILAND

3-0
1-2
2-0
2-0

MYANMAR
SINGAPORE
TIMOR-LESTE
SINGAPORE

SEMI-FINALS

SINGAPORE 1-1
INDONESIA 4-2
(Leg 1)

(Leg 2)

INDONESIA
SINGAPORE
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FAN ZONES AT THE NATIONAL STADIUM

LIONS APPRECIATION EVENT

The AFF Suzuki Cup 2020 Local Organising
Committee pulled out all the stops for the hosting
of the prestigious biennial tournament – from the
organisation of the first ever opening ceremony for
the tournament that featured pyrotechnics and an
incredible show of 300 drones, to the Community

The Lions’ heroic display of grit and courage in their
valiant semi-final loss to Indonesia won the hearts of
numerous Singaporeans, who stood tall and proud
to sing Majulah Singapura in unison with the players
and backroom staff at the end of that epic Christmas
Day match. On 28 December 2021, Minister for
Culture, Community and Youth Edwin Tong was
in attendance as the Lions were feted at the Jalan
Besar Stadium in recognition of their performances.

Football Activation Zone at the OCBC Square at
Singapore Sports Hub. The public could view the
inaugural Singapore National Teqball and panna
competitions, as well as try out VR football drills
and shooting contests.

The Lions were welcomed to the pitch by Mr Tong
and members of the FAS Council, while members
of fan groups were also invited to the reception. Mr
Tong thanked the team for inspiring a whole new
generation of Singapore football fans by showing
them the “power of possible”, as he presented
outgoing head coach Tatsuma Yoshida and team
captain Hariss Harun with a national team jersey
with names of the entire Suzuki Cup squad printed
on it.
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LOCAL ORGANISING COMMITTEE
APPRECIATION EVENT
The successful organisation of the AFF Suzuki
Cup 2020 would not have been possible without
the valuable contributions from the various
stakeholders, with everyone playing an important
role – setting aside their precious time during the
holiday season to ensure that the competition was
executed smoothly. Members of the fraternity came
together for an Appreciation Event on 20 February
2022, with the FAS Local Organising Committee
taking the opportunity to thank and honour the
help rendered by Ministry for Culture, Community

and Youth, Ministry of Health, Sport Singapore,
Singapore Sports Hub, Team Nila, SportCares,
Admiralty CSC, Pasirian Lions Football Club and
the FAS Volunteers and Workforce. Mr Eric Chua,
Parliamentary Secretary for the Ministry of Culture,
Community and Youth & the Ministry of Social and
Family Development, paid tribute to the successful
organisation of the AFF Suzuki Cup 2020, which
provided Singapore with invaluable lessons and
experience in hosting large scale events during the
pandemic.
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FAS TRI-NATIONS MEN’S
Continuing from the success of the AFF Suzuki Cup
2020, the FAS hosted the FAS Tri-Nations Series in a
triangular tournament involving Singapore, Malaysia
and the Philippines from 23 to 29 March 2022. Led
by interim coach Nazri Nasir, the Lions showed the
progress they have made with a perfect campaign,
winning both matches at the National Stadium. A 2-1
triumph over Malaysia was followed up by a 2-0
victory over the Philippines, with Singaporean fans

turning out in full force to support their very own. The
FAS Tri-Nations Series also marked the first time in
which the FAS’ in-house production team produced
and broadcasted the matches live internationally,
whilst also directly managing and selling the broadcast
rights to be shown on meWATCH. Along with instadium advertising commercial spaces sold, the FAS
raised nearly $60,000 in commercial and broadcast
sales over two match-days.
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FAS TRI-NATIONS WOMEN’S
The FAS also hosted a Tri-Nations Series (Women’s)
which involved Singapore, Seychelles and Papua
New Guinea from 4 to 11 April 2022. Marking the first
time that the Lionesses played on home soil since the
FAS International Women’s Quadrangular in 2018,
Stephen Ng’s side defeated Seychelles – led by former
Lioness Angeline Chua – 6-2 in front of nearly 1,500

fans at the Jalan Besar Stadium. That was also the firstever ticketed women’s football match in Singapore as
the women’s game continued to make strides forward.
The Lionesses then lost 1-0 to world no. 49 Papua New
Guinea with 2,344 fans in attendance as they gained
valuable match experience ahead of the 31st SEA
Games in Vietnam.
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FIFA WORLD CUP QUALIFIERS
In their first competitive games in one and a
half years due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Singapore’s Men National Team battled
hard in the second round of their FIFA World
Cup Qatar 2022™ qualifying campaign in
June 2021 but lost all three Group D matches
to higher-ranked opposition – Palestine,
Uzbekistan and hosts Saudi Arabia – in Riyadh.
The trip meant that the Lions became the first
sports team in Singapore to travel overseas
for competition since the pandemic began.

The FAS put in place the necessary protocols
to ensure the safety of all players and officials.
Nonetheless, the pandemic proved difficult, as
the Lions’ preparations were hampered by a lack
of sparring opportunities as well as injuries to
several key players. Defeat in all three matches
meant that the Lions finished fourth among five
teams and did not progress to the next stage
of qualifying, but the team can be encouraged
by some promising displays throughout the
campaign.

TAKAYUKI NISHIGAYA UNVEILED
AS LIONS HEAD COACH
Takayuki Nishigaya was unveiled as the new
Head Coach of the Singapore Men’s National
Team on 25 April 2022, succeeding Tatsuma
Yoshida in the Lions dugout. A former defender
who made 100 J.League appearances
and represented Japan at Under-22 level,
Nishigaya started his top-level coaching
journey in 2004 as a youth coach at Tokyo
Verdy, eventually becoming youth head coach
there before leaving in 2009. He went on to

become an assistant coach at Albirex Niigata
(2012) and Mito Hollyhock (2013-15) before
being promoted to head coach (2015-17) at the
latter. Nishigaya also helmed SC Sagamihara
before moving to Matsumoto Yamaga, first as
Under-18 head coach before becoming firstteam assistant in 2020. The 49-year-old is tasked
to continue the good work left behind by Yoshida
and ensure the Lions consistently keep up a
progressive brand of attacking football.
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AFC WOMEN’S ASIAN CUP QUALIFIERS
The women’s game continued to grow and
make progress as the Lionesses came up against
Indonesia twice in the space of four days for
the AFC Women’s Asian Cup 2022 Qualifiers
between 24 and 28 September 2021. 1-0
defeats in both matches meant they failed in
their quest for qualification, but Stephen Ng’s
girls impressed many with their doggedness
and determination in the absence of several
key overseas-based players. The FAS received

support from internal and external stakeholders
like the Ministry of Culture, Community & Youth
and SportSG in the Lionesses’ first international
competition after a two-year hiatus due to the
pandemic. Strong coverage came from both
online and print news outlets, and both matches
were broadcasted live on the FAS Facebook
and YouTube pages – garnering over 415,000
views across both channels in the reflection of the
growing interest in the women’s game.
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31st SOUTHEAST ASIAN GAMES

AFF U23 CHAMPIONSHIPS

In their first appearance at the biennial Games since
2003, the Singapore Women’s National Team
acquitted themselves well and earned the admiration
of many with their heart-on-sleeves displays. A valiant
3-0 loss to Thailand – a team that has qualified for the
last two FIFA Women’s World Cups – was followed
up by a dramatic 1-0 win over Laos. Nur Izzati Rosni
lashed home an unforgettable 95th-minute winner for
their first SEA Games win since 1985 and only their
second ever.The Lionesses then frustrated 45th-ranked

The unavailability of several key players due to
COVID-19 infections meant that the odds were stacked
against the Singapore Under-23 Men’s National
Team at the AFF U23 Championships that took place
in Cambodia in February 2022. Nazri Nasir’s charges
battled hard and took the lead against Thailand in the

Myanmar before going down to a last-minute goal
in a 1-0 loss as they bowed out of the competition
with heads held high. In the Men’s competition, the
Singapore Under-23s fought back and scored a 96thminute equaliser in an opening 2-2 draw with Laos,
and defeated Cambodia 1-0 – which sandwiched a
loss against Thailand – as their semi-final hopes went
down to the final group game. An exciting Causeway
Derby was played out with Malaysia, which ended
2-2 as Nazri Nasir’s side concluded their campaign.

opening Group C game, before going down to a 3-1
defeat. The Young Lions only had 14 players available
for the following match against Vietnam with two of
the three on the bench being goalkeepers, as they
fought valiantly in a 7-0 defeat and bowed out of the
competition.
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MICHAEL BROWNE APPOINTED AS
FAS TECHNICAL DIRECTOR

FIRST-EVER WOMEN’S
FOOTBALL CONFERENCE

Michael Browne was announced as the new FAS
Technical Director on 1 July 2022 as he succeeded
Joseph Palatsides, who stepped down in December
2021. A UEFA Pro Licence holder who served as
Academy Director at English side Charlton Athletic
from 1998 to 2004, the 63-year-old Englishman is
most renowned for his time at Qatar’s Aspire Academy
– where he was one of the pioneering head coaches
and then Head of National Team Scouting from 2004
to 2012 – as he helped lay the foundations that would
transform Qatar into the continental force they are right
now. Aspire graduates went on to form the bulk of the
country’s 2014 AFC Under-19 Championship and 2019
AFC Asian Cup triumphs – the first in Qatar’s history.

In celebration of the annual AFC Women’s Football
Day and International Women’s Day, the FAS held the
first-ever Women’s Football Conference on 5 March
2022 at the Singapore Sports Hub. Attended by 100
guests and more participants virtually, the conference
- graced by Minister for Culture, Community and
Youth and Second Minister for Law Edwin Tong saw panellists from various backgrounds share their
expert advice and experience. Pertinent topics were
raised amid a robust discussion on women’s football
development in both Singapore and Asia. A club
licencing system for women’s clubs in Singapore was

Appointed on a two-year contract and assisted by FAS
Head of Methodology and Assistant Technical Director
Philippe Aw, Browne oversees the development of
Singapore football in all aspects, including the national
age-group teams, grassroots and women’s football,
as well as further strengthening the youth development
structure. He will be influential in working with key
stakeholders such as schools, academies and relevant
government bodies to enhance the FAS’ football
philosophy as well as review the existing frameworks
and projects.

also introduced by FAS Head of Competitions Aloysius
Vetha, with the concept starting as a pilot programme
for two years before coming into force proper in 2024.
Eight Women’s Football ambassadors – consisting of
current and former National Team players were also
introduced to promote the game and tasked to be
role models. The day concluded at the OCBC Square
with the Under-12 Girls’ Football Fiesta, as over 40
girls between the ages of eight and 12 completed a
series of games and partook in a meet-and-greet trivia
session with several Lionesses.
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LANDMARK MEMORANDUM OF
UNDERSTANDING SIGNINGS WITH FFF & JFA
Conceived with the objectives of the Unleash The Roar!
project in mind, the General Secretary’s Office led the
realisation of a three-year Cooperation Agreement with
the Fédération Française de Football (FFF) on 26 March
2022 to further the development of women’s football
and collaborate in the form of technical exchange
programmes in both countries. The agreement’s
focus revolves around uplifting the women’s game in

Singapore – to grow the base of female footballers
here and channelling them into an Elite programme.
FFF will share their technical expertise by providing
training courses to technical staff in the FAS, with both
parties engaging in regular exchanges on technical
developments and coach education. This partnership
gives an added boost to the growing momentum of
women’s football development in Singapore.

A Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) was also
reached with the Japan Football Association (JFA) on
1 April 2022 on a three-year agreement – the latest
milestone in a warm working relationship with the JFA
that dates back to April 2011, when the first such MoU
was signed. It was renewed in February 2015 and ran
for six years. Similar to the FAS-FFF agreement, this
latest iteration of the MoU will see both parties continue

to commit to a high level of cooperation, where
resources, expertise and information will be mutually
exchanged. Apart from school programmes, coach
education and exchange programmes, and friendly
and/or international matches at both youth and senior
levels, the FAS and JFA will also collaborate in areas
like football science and commercial opportunities.
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SEVEN GRASSROOTS COACHING
COURSES CONDUCTED

INTRODUCTORY COACHING
COURSE RESUMES

The FAS Coach Education and Development
Department successfully conducted FAS Grassroots
Level 1 coaching courses for seven FAS-affiliated
partners – namely Singapore Sports School, Singapore
Cricket Club, SportCares, ActiveSG Football Academy,
First Kick Academy, Admiralty CSC and Singapore
Football Coaches Association between April 2021

The FAS Introductory Coaching Course resumed for
the first time since 2020. Held over two weekends in
February 2022 spanning the 19th, 20th, 26th and
27th, it was overseen by FAS Coach Developers S.
Subramani and Loh Ngiap Tai. A total of 15 participants
attended the course held at the Geylang Training

to April 2022. Participants first attended an online
theory lesson before undergoing a practical session
the following day at the Uber Sports facility at ORTO,
which was conducted in strict compliance with the
COVID-19 measures. The attendees gained valuable
knowledge in their journey to become better coaches
and educators of football.

Centre for all four days. The course, which aims to
equip participants with the basic knowledge and skills
for coaching, comprises both theory and practical
sessions. It is targeted at youths (18 years and above),
volunteer coaches and working adults and is a prerequisite for the FAS ‘C‘ Coaching Certificate Course.
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AFC FITNESS COACHING CERTIFICATE
COURSE LEVEL 1B CONCLUDED

CONTINUOUS COACH EDUCATION
SESSIONS HELD FOR COE AND SFA COACHES

The second and final part of the AFC Fitness Coaching
Certificate Course Level 1B was held from 23 to 27
March 2022 for 16 participants – all holding the
AFC/FAS ‘B’ Certificate – as they finally managed
to regather after the first session was conducted back
in March 2020. Level 1B of the course aims to equip
the participants with a basic knowledge of training
physiology and demands of the game, with all five
days of the course being held at Jalan Besar Stadium.

The lifting of restrictions meant Continuous Coach
Education (CCE) sessions for Centre of Excellence
(COE) and School Football Academy (SFA) coaches
could finally resume, with FAS Head of Methodology
Philippe Aw overseeing two sessions on 26 and 28
April 2022. Topics such as Theories of Coaching and

The FAS Football Science and Medicine Department
provided administrative support, with Coach Developer
Mark Sean Jones (AFC Fitness Coaching Tutor) guiding
the participants. During the practical sessions, players
from Geylang International’s Under-17 team and
Albirex Niigata (S)’ Under-14 side were also brought
in to assist.

Safe Sport were covered, with the CCE sessions
specially tailored towards adult learners (andragogy)
and delivered in a facilitative manner where coaches
shared their own experiences and views in an open
learning environment. CCE sessions are currently
being held twice a month for the rest of 2022.
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FIVE MODULES COMPLETED FOR FAS/AFC
‘PRO’ DIPLOMA COACHING COURSE
Lead Coach Developer Robert Sherman was finally
able to visit Singapore to physically deliver course
content to 18 participants at the Jalan Besar Stadium
from 20 to 24 March 2022 and 30 May to 3 June
2022 for Part 4B and 5 of the FAS/AFC ‘Pro’ Diploma
certification. Aided by Assistant Coach Developer
Robin Chitrakar, topics under the Vision and Philosophy
component were covered in Part 4B before guest

speakers shared their expertise, via both physical
and virtual means, on areas such as dealing with the
media, physical conditioning and recruitment in Part
5. SPL head coaches like Tampines Rovers’ Gavin
Lee, Hougang United’s Clement Teo and Geylang
International’s Noor Ali were able to learn from Mr
Sherman, who holds a UEFA Pro Licence and boasts
43 years of coaching experience.
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EQUIPPING GOALKEEPER COACHES
TO COACH AT HIGHEST LEVEL

ASPIRING GOALKEEPER COACHES
TAKE FIRST STEP

The FAS/AFC Goalkeeping (Level 1) Coaching Course was held for a second successive year in January
2022, with a total of eight participants successfully completing the course at the Geylang Training Centre. This
course aims to build up the community of goalkeeper coaches in Singapore by equipping participants with the
necessary foundation of goalkeeping methodology. This year’s course also marked the first time there were two
female participants.

The FAS/AFC Goalkeeping ‘C’ Certificate Coaching
Course was held at Geylang Training Centre for
eight participants over two weekends between 4 to 6
March and 11 to 13 March 2022, mentored by Coach
Developers Rameshpal Singh and Ahmadulhaq Che
Omar from the FAS Goalkeeping Department. This
year’s course also marked the first time there were
two female participants. The course targeted coaches
who wish to develop goalkeepers in their formative
years between the ages of 12 and 18. Participants
were equipped with the understanding of coaching

in technical, functional and integrated areas with
opportunities to plan, prepare and deliver sessions
and receive feedback from their peers to create a
strong learning environment.
After the course, participants are given a six-month
period to apply the knowledge learnt in their respective
clubs or teams, alongside being mentored. The
Coach Developers will then assess the participants to
determine if they pass the course, which is also a prerequisite for the FAS/AFC Goalkeeping ‘B’ Diploma.
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RESUMPTION OF GOALKEEPING
ACADEMY SINGAPORE PROGRAMME

CONTINUOUS EDUCATION FOR
MEDICAL SUPPORT STAFF

Started in 2016 to create interest in goalkeeping and
provide an avenue for goalkeepers to be guided with
the necessary skill set for the position, the Goalkeeping
Academy Singapore (GAS) resumed in March 2022
after a two-year pandemic-enforced absence. There
are currently 30 goalkeepers in the academy, with
sessions held every weekend at Victoria School. The
GAS is committed towards building a good talent pool

Before the 2022 domestic football season, a medical
refresher course was held at Geylang Training Centre
on 3 and 4 February 2022 for sports trainers and
medical staff from the National Teams and eight SPL
clubs. As the first responders on the football pitch, they
were tested on their emergency response and cardiac
arrest management skills. Organised by the FAS and

by providing them with elite training from the ages of
seven to 16 to understand the technical and tactical
requirements of being a successful goalkeeper.
The participants are taught the essentials of good
decision-making in various game-related scenarios.
Additionally, the academy serves to build character
and values, like discipline and perseverance.

software solutions provider ZOLL Medical, a new
basic sports trainer course was also held for SPL, WPL
and SFL clubs on 28 to 30 April 2022 as the fraternity
aspires to achieve the FAS pillar of enhancing
capability development through continuous education
of trainers and medical personnel, especially during
uncertain times of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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FOOTBALL OFFERED FOR THE FIRST TIME TO
GIRLS AS PART OF THE SINGAPORE SPORTS
SCHOOL PROGRAMME
For the first time since the Singapore Sports School
(SSP) was founded in 2004, football is now offered
to girls as part of the school’s Individual Programme.
Two players – Lamasan Chantale Rose Koh and Seri
Nurinsyirah Bte Indra Saharen – were selected to
pioneer the programme and both of them are currently

training with the Under-16 Women’s National Team.
The SSP complements this programme with strong
academic and student development support, with the
General Managers and National Team Managers
working in tandem to nurture and advance the student
athletes’ development.
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SCHOOL FOOTBALL ACADEMIES TO
NURTURE YOUNG FOOTBALLING DREAMS
As part of the Unleash The Roar! (UTR!) project, 10
School Football Academies (SFAs) were established in
2022 – including Singapore Sports School, Jurongville
Secondary School and ACS Barker, with plans for more
in the future – to provide high-performance training for
talented secondary school students. Spain’s top football
league LaLiga has come onboard as a strategic partner
to UTR!, with LaLiga coaches helming key positions
alongside local full-time coaches. Students train up to
four times a week at the SFAs, up from the average of
two in most football programmes at secondary schools,

and they will also play competitively throughout the
year in various tournaments. Following the National
Football Curriculum (NFC) developed by the FAS
and supervised by the FAS Technical Division and
ActiveSG Football Academy (AFA), this initiative is
engaged to provide each student-athlete with the best
possible conditions to hone their potential. Running as
a pilot programme with only Secondary 1 students in
2022, it will progressively expand to include all years
in each SFA by 2025 – with about 1,400 boys and
girls expected to benefit eventually.
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SINGAPOREAN TRIO IMPART EXPERTISE IN
AFC STAR PROGRAMME
The AFC Star Programme for referees aims to provide
Member Associations with access to quality education
and expert advice from experienced existing and
retired referees and instructors. Virtual training sessions
were conducted by instructors from AFC, before
subsequently moving to physical classroom sessions
conducted by our very own AFC Star Programme
coaches Abdul Malik, Sukhbir Singh and Muhammad
Taqi Aljaafari. Topics were generally designed to equip

our referees with the current laws of the game and the
relevant skill sets required off the pitch. Soft skills such
as knowledge on ‘Game Plan’ and ‘Game Empathy’
were shared. This programme, overseen by former
English Premier League assistant referee and AFC
Referee Instructor and Consultant Raymond Olivier,
provided the opportunity for our referees to gain astute
knowledge and experiences.
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TAQI AND ABIRAMI BLAZE BRIGHT IN
INTERNATIONAL REFEREEING SCENE
Singapore’s first FIFA-accredited Video Match
Official (VMO) Muhammad Taqi Aljaafari went
on to make more history by becoming the nation’s
first football referee to ever officiate at an Olympic
Games. Appointed for the prestigious 2020 Olympics
held in Tokyo from July to August 2021, he served
as a Video Assistant Referee (VAR) in both the men’s

and women’s football category – including the
men’s gold-medal match between Brazil and Spain.
Meanwhile, Abirami Naidu was appointed for the
AFC Women’s Asian Cup played in India in January
2022. It marked the third time she has officiated in
this competition and the most appearances made by
a female Singaporean referee.
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SINGAPORE REFEREES MAKE THEIR
MARK IN THE REGION
Singaporean match officials continued to fly the flag high for the Republic, with Muhammad Taqi Aljaafari, Jansen
Foo, Ronnie Koh, Abdul Hannan, Ahmad A’Qashah, Andy Tan, Ashokraj and Muhammad Zulfiqar all selected
to officiate in regional tournaments such as the AFC Champions League, AFC Cup, AFF U23 Championship and
the AFF Suzuki Cup.
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REFEREES DEPARTMENT SPREAD
FOOTBALL KNOWLEDGE
The FAS Referees Department conducted its first
Referees Basic Course since March 2020 from 19 to
21 November 2021. This course was conducted in
partnership with the Singapore Civil Defence Force
Football Team, which took the opportunity to upskill
their players with the knowledge of refereeing and
Laws of the Game. There was also a public course
conducted from 18 to 20 March 2022, which saw a
mixed demographic of participants including former
SPL and Prime League players who decided to return

to the pitch in the form of refereeing. For the first time,
the FAS Referees Department also conducted a twoday Technical Official Programme from 25 March to
26 March 2022 to introduce the rules of football to
participants from Team Nila – a national volunteerism
movement spearheaded by Sport Singapore. This
programme equipped them with the knowledge
to become game leaders to facilitate and conduct
ActiveSG Football programmes for children in lower
age-groups.
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AIA COMMUNITY SHIELD 2022
The Lion City Sailors picked up from where they left off
in 2021 by claiming the first piece of silverware in the
2022 season as they defeated rivals Albirex Niigata
(S) 2-1 in the 14th edition of the annual curtain-raiser.
Former Southampton FC forward Tadanari Lee put the
White Swans ahead from the spot, but South Korean
international Kim Shin-wook netted a clinical brace –
including a stunning scissors-kick to win the Shield for
the reigning SPL champions in front of a 1,000-strong

crowd, the maximum capacity following the government
protocols then. Before kick-off, there was a cheque
presentation for S$16,000 by FAS President Mr Lim
Kia Tong to Mr Steve Kon, Executive Director for New
Life Community Services. The amount, which comprised
donations from the FAS, a number of SPL clubs and gate
proceeds, will aid New Life – a social service agency
in Singapore – in their mission of serving the community
and mentoring the next generation.

GOLDEN GOALS
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PORRIDGE DISTRIBUTION
Lionesses Dhaniyah Qasimah and Fatin Ridzwan, as well as national Under-23 footballers Khairin Nadim and
Ryhan Stewart were part of a Team Singapore contingent at Wisma Geylang Serai on 18 to 19 April 2022 to
help distribute porridge, also known as bubur Ramadan, to the community.
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OFFICIAL INAUGURATION CEREMONY
OF FAS HEADQUARTERS
The FAS Headquarters Inauguration Ceremony was
held on 5 December 2021 to commemorate the
successful completion of renovation works at FAS
headquarters and the installation of the new artificial
pitch at Jalan Besar Stadium. With the total cost of
US$2.53 million (S$3.5 million) supported by the
FIFA Forward Programme, the FAS had the honour of
having FIFA President Mr Gianni Infantino to grace the
auspicious event. Welcomed onto the new artificial
pitch with a traditional lion dance performance,

Mr Infantino was then presented with a token of
appreciation by FAS President Mr Lim Kia Tong, before
unveiling a commemorative Inauguration Plate. Mr
Infantino highlighted a few areas of FIFA support that
the FAS can leverage on, including the FIFA Forward
Fund and FIFA’s Football for School programme, which
the FAS will look to tap more into. The FAS then had
the pleasure of hosting Mr Infantino for the AFF Suzuki
Cup match between Singapore and Myanmar at the
National Stadium after the ceremony.
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FAS REPRESENTATIVES AT THE
AFC CHAMPIONS LEAGUE
Nur Hazwana Mahani (Sarah) had the prestigious
opportunity to travel for an overseas attachment at
the AFC Champions League in Uzbekistan between
June and July 2021, where she received hands-on
experience of working as a Team Manager and
concurrently learned the COVID-19 Tournament
Protocols formulated by the AFC. With the knowledge

and experience gained in the one-month stint, Sarah
provided her learning inputs to the FAS and was
subsequently appointed as the coordinating officer
with Fullerton Health for all organised competitions’
Covid-19 testing regime - including the SPL, AFC
Under-23 Asian Cup Qualifiers and the AFF Suzuki
Cup 2020.

Cheong Yue Seng from the FAS Marketing Department
was selected to be part of the AFC delegation for
the AFC Champions League (East) Group F and J
matches in April and May 2022, which was held in
Buriram, Thailand. Appointed as the Venue Marketing
Manager in his time there, he worked together with the
AFC Delegation, Football Marketing Asia staff and the
Local Organising Committee from Football Association

of Thailand to ensure the successful delivery of all
commercial activations across matches of the two
groups, which were predominantly played at Buriram
City Stadium. With experience gained from working in
Asia’s biggest club competition, the 28-year-old has
been able to adapt his learning to suit Singapore’s
context and implement the key best practices.
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CHEN WANXIN PURSUES FIFA/
UEFA WOMEN IN FOOTBALL
LEADERSHIP PROGRAMME
In March 2022, Chen WanXin joined 34 other
women working in Member Associations from all six
confederations at the 3rd edition of the Women in
Football Leadership Programme – a joint effort by
FIFA, UEFA and the IMD Business School. The weeklong programme is designed for women in football
who have the potential and motivation to progress into
senior leadership positions within their organisation
or are already in such roles. Participants received
leadership training and one-to-one coaching where

they went through role plays and developed a
sense of self-awareness, as well as a strong global
network of like-minded contacts and invaluable
exchanging of experiences in working their way up
in a male-dominated industry. WanXin came away
from this programme with a sense of inspiration and
determination to push boundaries in her capacity
as Team Lead of the FAS Grassroots and Women’s
Football Department.

SUKHBIR SINGH PARTICIPATES IN
FIFA EXECUTIVE PROGRAMME
As part of its continuous efforts to enhance staff
capability, the FAS enrolled Sukhbir Singh of
the Referees Department into the FIFA Executive
Programme – conducted by FIFA in partnership with
the International Centre for Sports Studies (CIES),
Switzerland. This hybrid programme comprised six
modules (4 online and 2 in-person) which covers a wide
area of the global football landscape, such as World
Football and Organisation, Revenue Generation and
Events, Infrastructure & Operations. Sukhbir, who has
been on the staff ranks since 2018, will strive to use the
knowledge and insight he gleaned to contribute further
to the local football landscape in broader aspects.
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FORMER LION BAIHAKKI KHAIZAN
EMBARKS ON NEW JOURNEY AT FAS
With the vision to get more ex-internationals to
contribute to the game, the FAS appointed Baihakki
Khaizan as Lead (Special Projects) and Ambassador on
15 February 2022. In what is his first foray into football
administration, Baihakki, who reports directly to the
FAS General Secretary, is in charge of spearheading
projects that aim to further elevate football in Singapore
that entail partnerships and collaborations with various
stakeholders, and is also involved in Unleash the
Roar! initiatives to unite Singaporeans through football

excellence and create more opportunities for kids to
chase their dreams at the highest level. With a wealth of
experience from a storied playing career that has seen
him earn 140 international caps – the second-most
in Lions history – and ply his trade in three overseas
countries (Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand), Baihakki’s
appointment brings invaluable insight to the table as
he also serves as a mentor to all National Team agegroup players, both male and female, and as part of
team delegations at international competitions.
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LIONESSES EXPAND THEIR
HORIZONS OVERSEAS

SINGAPORE FIFAe NATIONAL TEAM
MAKES THEIR VIRTUAL MARK

The growth of the women’s game in Singapore has
also seen an influx of Singaporean female players
catching the eye of overseas clubs and are now
plying their trade away from home. Siti Rosnani Aznan
currently plays in Japan’s Nadeshiko League 2 with
Kibi International University Charme after securing a
contract with Japan’s Women Empowerment League
club International Athletic Club Kobe Leonessa. Putri
Syaliza Sazali, who currently studies and plays for

Singapore made history in the e-sports category as
they qualified for the FIFAe Nations Cup 2021™ for
the first time, the virtual equivalent of the FIFA World
Cup. The Republic’s three representatives Ahmad
Sufian, Amraan Gani and Muhammad Syakir finished
third in Group B behind Korea Republic and Indonesia
but defeated Australia 6-0 in the second-chance finals
to book a historic spot in the finals of the international

Eastern Florida State University, also recently became
the first Singaporean to play in the Thai Women’s
League 1 with Chonburi FC. Summer Chong plays
for US-based club Black Rock FC, Danelle Tan is
in England with Mill Hill School, while Nicole Lim
represents Scotland’s University of Edinburgh. The
experience and exposure that they gain abroad are
invaluable to the overall development of the Lionesses
to progress to the next level.

tournament. The FIFAe Nations Cup is FIFA’s official
inter-nation competition for EA Sports FIFA 21 and sees
players represent their country in a two-versus-two
format. The trio was due to take on reigning champions
France and world number one England in Copenhagen
in August 2021, but the competition was unfortunately
cancelled due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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MISSION

STRUCTURE OF THE FAS

To develop a vibrant football culture to enhance national life, strengthen social harmony and evoke the
Singapore spirit.

The FAS is the national controlling body for association football, futsal and beach football in Singapore. It is an
association officially registered with the registrar of societies under the provisions of the societies act.
The bodies of FAS consist of a legislative body, an executive body, an administrative body and the judicial bodies:

VISION
To excel in ASEAN and compete at the Asian stage.

OBJECTIVE
Football offer people of different abilities, genders and ages, to take part in physical activity to improve health
and strengthen social values. The Football Association of Singapore (FAS) as the national governing body for
football, performs a pivotal role in the development of football at all levels for people of all ages to pursue their
passion in football.

FUTURE PLANS
UNLEASH THE ROAR! is a national National Project for Football. It is driven by a long-term vision to unite
Singaporeans through sport by growing football excellence, creating more opportunities for young Singaporeans
to develop their talents, and bringing Singaporeans together to cheer on our Lions.
There are 8 pillars of implementation, from building interest among the young, to developing multiple pathways,
and raising capabilities.

•The FAS congress is the supreme and legislative body for association football in Singapore
•The Council and the Executive Committee are the executive bodies of the FAS
•The General Secretariat is the administrative body of the FAS
•The judicial bodies are the Disciplinary Committee, the Appeals Committee and the Ethics Committee
The Standing Committees and Ad-hoc Committees of FAS shall advise and assist the Executive Committee in fulfilling
its duties. The Chairperson of each Standing Committee is a member of the Council. Members of the Standing
Committees are appointed on a four-year term. The Standing Committees coordinate their respective meetings in
collaboration with the General Secretary, and reports to the Council based on their areas of functions.
In the past year, the FAS continued to improve and enhance internal governance within the organisation and
in the larger football fraternity through imposing control measures and centralising administrative procedures
among others.

GOVERNING INSTRUMENT
The FAS was registered as a charity under the Charities Act (Chapter 37) since 04/05/1961. The FAS has
Constitution as its governing instrument.
Unique Registration Number: S82SS0043B
Registered Address: 100 Tyrwhitt Road, Jalan Besar Stadium, Singapore 207542
Auditor: Deloitte & Touche LLP
Bankers: DBS Bank Ltd.

RELATED PARTY
There was no Related Party transaction during the financial year March 2021 to April 2022. The FAS has no paid
staff, who are close members of the family of the General Secretary or Council members.
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CODE OF CONDUCT

CLUB LICENSING

The Code of Conduct conveys the responsibilities of stakeholders for their compliance with a number of laws
and policies, placing these obligations within the context of the FAS’ values with the commitment to conduct its
business with integrity.

Club Licensing was first introduced in 2011 as a list of basic criteria for SPL clubs to participate in AFC
Club Competitions such as the Asian Champions League and AFC Cup. With AFC’s assistance, Club
Licensing has since grown in stature and is now a critical component in FAS’ strategic plans for our
clubs’ constant development, improved governance and continued participation in the SPL.

All Council members, employees, and players under the purview of the FAS have to sign a Code of Conduct
Undertaking Form. The Code of Conduct includes key ethical areas such as data confidentiality, conduct of
operations, contractual relations, media relations, zero tolerance policy and finance integrity. One such finance
integrity includes abstaining themselves from placing bets on FAS and Singapore Premier League football
matches.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST
All Council members, employees of the FAS and SPL Clubs and players are required to submit a declaration of
Conflict of Interest upon joining the FAS and annually thereafter. The policy requires Council members, employees,
and players to act in the interests of the FAS and declare actual or potential conflicts of interest to the Council at
the earliest opportunity.
Similar stance has been made for the FAS’ procurement processes, whereby employees and contracted vendors
are required to declare any known conflict of interest that exists in any transactions. In addition, all approving
officers are also to declare any known conflict of interest that exists in the purchasing transaction.
To reinforce the importance of professional integrity, concerted efforts are made by the FAS to constantly educate
employees, players, and officials on the above policies through regular engagement sessions.

WHISTLE BLOWING POLICY
The Whistle Blowing Policy was developed to provide an avenue for employees, volunteers, and external
parties to raise concerns and offer reassurance that they would be protected from reprisals or victimisation
for whistle blowing in good faith. The policy is also intended to encourage employees to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible irregularities.
The objectives of the policy are to:
•
•
		
		
•
		

deter wrongdoing and to promote standards of good corporate practices.
provide proper avenues for employees and volunteers to raise concerns about actual or
suspected improprieties, in matters of financial reporting or other matters, and receive
feedback on any action taken.
give employees and volunteers the assurance that they would be protected from reprisals or
victimisation for whistle blowing in good faith.

PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION ACT
The FAS adopts a serious stance on the privacy of its members and stakeholders. Recognising the trust placed
on the organisation, the FAS upholds utmost responsibility to professionally manage, protect and process
personal data.

This key developmental tool has now become a fundamental consideration in the operations and
decision-making process of SPL clubs to improve the standards of the football ecosystem in Singapore.
By implementing the club licensing system, football clubs benefit by:
•
developing strong governance and organisational structures
•
implementing stable financial management and reporting
•
improving technical standards of coaches and clubs
•
increasing reliability, credibility and integrity of clubs and the league
•
promoting and continuously improving the standard of football
•
engaging qualified coaches
•
encouraging youth development
•
improving infrastructure facilities
•
improving the clubs’ administration, management and organisation
•
raising economic and financial standing of the clubs through effective marketing and
		commercial exploitation

ENHANCING CAPABILITIES
The FAS undertook deliberate efforts to integrate internal systems with technology and made digital
transformation a major focus towards Cost Efficiency and Capability Development. The COVID-19
pandemic was the stimulus for us to implement the use of online meetings which allows staff to connect
and participate in meetings from remote locations. It provided the ability to work and socialise relatively
seamlessly while ensuring the safety of our staff was made a priority, by allowing them to work from
home.
On the Information Technology (IT) front, the online membership registration portals have also been
launched, providing convenience, accessibility and reducing administrative paperwork.
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RISK ASSESSMENT

CARE UNITED FUND

Risk Assessment entails an objective evaluation of all plausible risk events that may potentially have an impact
on FAS’ mission and objectives. In 2016, the FAS undertook an exercise to identify the principal risks that it may
face and how these risks could be mitigated and effectively managed. It involved establishing risk parameters,
identifying and prioritising risks, assigning risk owners and assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of existing
controls to manage the risks within target.

The funds raised are to support community outreach programmes, which have the following three key thrusts:

The FAS subsequently developed a risk framework that provided an overview of the architecture for identifying
and managing risks.

ONE TEAM SINGAPORE FUND

The ‘four lines defence’ model evolves around processes, people and systems:

The One Team Singapore Fund has been created by Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth specifically for
all supporters of Team Singapore to contribute to enhance the High Performance Sport system for Singapore’s
athletes.

•
1st line of defence: Business Governance and Policy Management, which include Operational
		
Governance, Financial Governance and Policy Management
•
2nd line of defence: Management and Assurance, which include Risk Management and 		
		Compliance
•
3rd line of defence: Independent Assurance, which include Internal and External Audit
•
4th line of defence: Board Oversight

RESERVES POLICY
The FAS is funded on a deficit-funding basis. TOTE Board supplements the funds and has handed the administration
of its donation to SportSG since 1 April 2017. These funds are channelled towards FAS’ programmes, events
and operations. The timing of use for the fund depends on the specific needs and requirements based on the
objectives set by the funders and donors and the fund is normally utilised within the set timeline.
There are two types of funds administered by FAS – The Restricted Funds and General Reserves. These funds
are set up and used solely for clear and justifiable needs with the following objectives:
The objectives of the Restricted Funds are as follows:

•
•
•

Children Financial Assistance (CFA) Scheme
Transportation for Elderly Folks (TEF) Scheme
Development of Women’s Football (DWF) Scheme

GENERAL RESERVES
The General Reserves are to support the following five key realms:
•
•
•
•
•

National Training Centre and upgrading of football facilities
Academic-cum-football scholarships
Attachments for coaches, players and referees
Attachments for management and support staff
Sports Science and Medicine support and facilities for various age-group teams and SPL

COUNCIL SELF-EVALUATION
In line with the Code of Governance for Charities and Institutions of Public Character, the FAS initiated a selfevaluation questionnaire for Council members. The objective was to assess the performance and effectiveness of
the initiatives embarked by the organisation. This self-evaluation would be conducted once every three years as
recommended by the Charity Council.

DISCLOSURE OF REMUNERATION OF
TOP THREE HIGHEST PAID STAFF
APRIL 2021 – MARCH 2022
REMUNERATION BAND

NUMBER OF STAFF

BETWEEN $200,000 TO $300,000

1

BETWEEN $300,000 TO $400,000

2
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The Council presents their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements of Football
Association of Singapore (“Association”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE

In the opinion of the Council,

COUNCIL’S REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)
the accompanying financial statements of the Association and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes in funds of the Association as set out on pages 5 to 27, are drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311(the Societies and Regulations) and Financial Reporting Standards
in Singapore (FRSs) so a to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Association as at 31st March
2022 and of the financial performance, chanfes in funds and cash flows of Association for the financial year
ended on that date; and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Association
will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due

(REGISTRATION NO. S82SS0043B)

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE
CONTENTS										PAGES
COUNCIL’S REPORT 									1
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 							2-4
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT OF				
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

the accounting and other records to be kept by the Association have been properly kept in accordance
(b)
with the provisions of the Societies Act and Regulations;
(c)
the fund-raising appeal held during the periof 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 has been carried out on
accordance with regulation 6 of the Societies Act and Regulations issued under the Societies Act and proper
accounts and other records have been kept of the fund-raising appeal;
(d)
the use of the donation monies is in accordance with its objectives of the Association as required under
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and
(e)
the Association has complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the
Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

6

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS 						7

ON BEHALF OF THE COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS								8
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 						9-27
LIM KIA TONG
President

LELAINA LIM SIEW LI
Honorary Treasurer

26 August 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION
OF SINGAPORE
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Football Association of Singapore (the “Association”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows of the Association for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set
out on pages 5 to 27.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the “Societies Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations
(the “Societies Act and Regulations”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Association as at 31 March 2022
and of the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Association for the year ended on that
date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities
(“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Council’s Report, set
out on page 1. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Council Members for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Societies Act and FRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary whether due to fraud or error to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement. In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Association
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The Council members are responsible for
overseeing the Association’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of
an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 		
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Association’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Association to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation. We communicate with the Council members regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 March 2022

In our opinion:

							Note 		2022 			2021
								
$ 			$
ASSETS

(a) the accounting and other records to be kept by the Association have been properly kept in accordance with
the provisions of the Societies Act and Regulations; and
(b) the fund-raising appeal held during the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 has been carried out in
accordance with regulation 6 of the Societies Act and Regulations issued under the Societies Act and proper
accounts and other records have been kept of the fund-raising appeal. During the course of our audit, nothing
has come to our attention that caused us to believe that during the year:
(a) the Association has not used the donation monies in accordance with its objectives as required under
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and
(b) the Association has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the
Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

Current assets
371,179 		353,789
Inventories 						7
8
3,293,301		
4,004,523
Trade and other receivables 				
Prepayments 								264,820 		169,580
Cash and cash balances 				
9
8,974,290 		
6,868,713
Total current assets 							12,903,590 1		1,396,605
Non-current assets
Prepayments 								450,000
5 		
3,145,922 		
4,258,059
Property, plant and equipment 				
Total non-current assets 						3,595,922 		4,258,059
Total assets 								16,499,512 		15,654,664
LIABILITIES AND FUNDS

Public Accountants and Chartered
Accountants Singapore
26 August 2022

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 				
11
9,162,436 		
9,817,572
969,638 		1,378,974
Lease liabilities 					12
Total current liabilities 							10,132,074 		11,196,546
Non-current liability
Lease liabilities 					12

1,889,348		 -

Funds
General funds 								2,828,655 		3,045,576
Restricted funds 					10
1,649,435 		1,412,542
Total funds 								4,478,090 		4,458,118
Total liabilities and funds 						16,499,512 		15,654,664

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Financial year ended 31 March 2022

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS
Financial year ended 31 March 2022

								Note 		2022 		2021
										$ 		$
Revenue and other income:
Gate collections 							2,036,360 11,822
Domestic League entrance fees 			
13 		
2,933 		
817
Sponsorship 								428,690
620,950
Advertising and TV rights 						243,810
73,360
Interest on fixed deposits 						- 		135
Donations 						14 		943,720
305,419
Miscellaneous receipts 				15 		732,206
579,863
Affiliation and sanction fees 						4,000 		5,500
Sports Singapore (“SportSG”) grant 			
16 		
19,201,055 15,555,458
Subsidies 						17 		5,238,609
3,192,004
										28,831,383 20,345,328
Expenses:
Domestic football league expenses 			
13 		
(147,404)
(183,327)
Football development expenses 					(1,937,898) (1,852,897)
Operating expenses 					18 		(2,978,924) (3,411,588)
Organising and travelling expenses 			
19 		
(7,293,756) (21,243)
National Teams training costs 						(2,098,682) (1,318,455)
Referees development expenses 			
20 		
(225,626)
(236,595)
Singapore Premier League expenses 			
21		
(13,669,626) (12,617,447)
Women’s football 							(736,388)
(525,228)
										(29,088,304) (20,166,780)

						General Funds 		Restricted Funds
Total
						$ 			$ 			$
At 1 April 2020 				
2,867,028 		
1,419,542 		
4,286,570
Total net surplus, representing total
comprehensive income for the year

178,548 		

(7,000) 		

171,548

At 31 March 2021 				

3,045,576 		

1,412,542 		

4,458,118

Transfer of funds 				
Total net surplus, representing total
comprehensive income for the year

40,000 		

(40,000) 		

-

(256,921) 		

276,893 		

19,972

At 31 March 2022 				

2,828,655 		

1,649,435 		

4,478,090

(Deficit) Surplus before taxation 						
(256,921)
178,548
Taxation 							22 		- 		(Deficit) Surplus after taxation 							(256,921)
178,548
Funds
Care United
Total disbursements for the year 			

10 		

(14,200)

One Team Singapore Fund
Total receipts for the year 				
10 		
587,444
Total disbursements for the year 			
10 		
(296,351)
										276,893
Total net surplus, representing total
comprehensive income for the year 					
19,972

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(7,000)
(7,000)
171,548

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Financial year ended 31 March 2022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

										2022 		2021
										$ 		$
Operating activities
Surplus for the year 							19,972
171,548
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 			
1,481,907
1,491,609
Loss allowance for doubtful receivables 				
313,035
201,580
Write-off of inventories 						- 		328,456
Interest expense 							33,359
100,743
Interest income 							- 		(134)
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 		
1,848,273
2,293,802

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
The Association is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore as a charity, under the Charities
Act, Chapter 37, with its principal place of business located at 100 Tyrwhitt Road, Jalan Besar Stadium #01-02,
Singapore 207542.

Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables 						(147,053)
Inventories 								(17,390)
Trade and other payables (Note A) 					
2,028,358
Cash flows generated from operations 					
3,712,188

The principal activities of the Association are those related to the promotion of professional/semi-professional
football league and organising football matches.
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 were authorised for issue by the Council on 26
August 2022.
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCCOUNTING POLICIES

111,528
(160,152)
1,426,173
3,671,351

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost
basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”), the provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the Societies Act),
the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (the Societies Act and Regulations).

Interest received 								- 		134
Net cash from operating activities 					
3,712,188
3,671,485

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note A) 			
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary 					
Net cash used in investing activities 					

(182,654)
- 		
(182,654)

(2,447,235)
2
(2,447,233)

Financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities 						(1,390,598)
Interest paid - lease liabilities 						
(33,359)
Net cash used in financing activities 					
(1,423,957)

(1,418,128)
(113,797)
(1,531,925)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 				
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 				
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 					

(307,673)
7,176,386
6,868,713

2,105,577
6,868,713
8,974,290

Note A:
In 2021, included in trade and other payables was an amount of $264,283 relating to additions to property,
plant and equipment which was unpaid at year end.
In 2022, out of the total additions to the property, plant and equipment of $3,053,265 (2021: $2,742,126),
an amount of $2,870,610 (2021: $30,608) relates to the additions of right-of-use assets and an amount of
$51,485 (2021: $2,632,009) relating to assets funded by Fédération Internationale de Football Association
(“FIFA”).

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Association
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payments, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 116
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs
to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
(a) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;
(b) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
(c) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS – In the current financial year, the Association adopted all
the new and revised FRS pronouncements that are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised
FRS pronouncements does not result in changes to the Association’s accounting policies and has no material
effect on the disclosures or on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

Management anticipates that the adoption of the new or revised FRSs in future periods will not have a material
impact on the financial statements in the period of their initial adoption.

The Association always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Association’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Association’s
statement of financial position when the Association becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Financial assets
Classification of financial assets
These comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables that meet the following conditions
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost:
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other
hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for
any loss allowance.

For all other financial instruments, the Association recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Association measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on
evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occurring.
Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Association compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Association considers historical loss rates for each category of customers and adjusts to reflect
current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Association presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Association has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
The Association assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Association regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
Definition of default

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost, except for short-term balances when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The Association considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Association has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Impairment of financial assets

Credit-impaired financial assets

The Association recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade and other receivables.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

Write-off policy

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Association writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Association’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

The Association derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Association’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Association in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Association expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. If the Association has measured the loss allowance for
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Association measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Association derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another party. If the Association neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Association recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Association retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Association continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straightline method, on the following bases:
					Years
Furniture and fittings 			
5
Office premises 			
5
Office equipment 			
3
Computer 				3
Sports and field equipment 		
3
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting date, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
Assets in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these
asset commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Classification as debt or equity

Assets acquired through donations are recognised at zero value when the Association obtains control of the asset
and the corresponding fundings is recorded as a sponsorship in profit or loss.

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Association are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Association after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective
yield basis.

INVENTORIES - Inventories comprise consumables for own use received from sponsors are initially recognised
at fair value which is the deemed cost. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories.
IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS - At each reporting date, the Association reviews the carrying amounts of
its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Association estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Association remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

•the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

LEASES
The Association as lessee
The Association assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Association
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in
which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and
leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Association recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined,
the Association uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
•fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;
•variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;
•the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
•the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
and
•payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an
option to terminate the lease.
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statements of financial positions.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

•the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest
rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or
•a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Whenever the Association incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site
on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, a provision is recognised and measured under FRS 37. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If
a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the company
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
The Association applies FRS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss as described in “Impairment of tangible assets” policy.
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line ‘Expenses’ in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
As a practical expedient, FRS 116 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account
for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Association has used this
practical expedient. For a contract that contain a lease component and one or more additional lease or nonlease components, the Association allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the nonlease components.
PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Association has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Association will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and other similar allowances.

Transactions in currencies other than the Association’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Revenue from sponsorship income
Revenue from sponsorships are on a straight-line basis over the sponsorship period unless the sponsorship is
contingent on specific milestones or fulfilment of equivalent performance obligations in which case revenue is
recognised when those milestones or performance obligations are met.
Value-in-kind sponsorships are recognised at point in time upon delivery of the goods or acceptance of the
services. Value-in-kind sponsorships are measured at the fair value of the goods received and services rendered
at point in time.
Revenue other than sponsorship income
Revenue from gate collections is recognised based on matches played throughout the year with revenue from
each match being recognised at point in time after the match to which the performance obligation is satisfied.
Revenue from grants, subsidies and donations is recognised on accrual basis according to agreed terms and
conditions set by the concerned parties. All other revenue from donations is recognised upon receipt.
RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to statemanaged retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments
to defined contribution plans where the Association’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising
in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.
FUND - The Association maintains general fund and restricted funds. General funds are fund available for use
for any of the Association’s purposes. Restricted funds are set up for specific purposes.
GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Association will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. Government
grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which they are
intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. All grants are accounted for on the accrual basis. Government
grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Association with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of the Association are measured and
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional
currency). The financial statements of the Association are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional
currency of the Association, and the presentation currency for the financial statements.

CASH AND CASH BALANCES - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank that are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Association’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical judgements in applying the Association’s accounting policies
Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Revenue recognition
For the performance obligations to be fulfilled by the Association to earn the respective sponsorship income,
the obligations are to be performed via an indeterminate number of acts over a specific period of time. Further,
there is no single specific act which is much more significant than any other acts. Accordingly, the Association has
recognised revenue on a straight-line basis over the specific sponsorship period.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
Loss allowance for trade and other receivables
Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring expected credit losses (“ECL”). Probability of default
is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical
data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.
The carrying amounts of the Association’s trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
a) Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:
										2022 		2021
										$		$
Financial assets at amortised cost # 						

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12,099,675

Financial liabilities at amortised cost * 						
6,000,605
Lease liabilities									2,858,986

10,714,794
5,402,816
1,378,974

								
# Excludes employee advance and advance to S-League clubs.
* Excludes fees received in advance and donations received in advance.
b) Financial risk management policies and objectives
The Association is exposed to various financial risks arising from the normal course of business. It has adopted
risk management policies and utilises a variety of techniques to manage its exposure to these risks.
There has been no change to the Association’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.
(i) Foreign exchange risk management
The Association is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in currencies other
than Singapore dollars. Such foreign currency risks may arise from assets or liabilities, income or expenses
denominated in other currencies. In assessing its exposure to the foreign currency risk, the Association adopts a
holistic approach, taking into account of the timing and size of the underlying exposure, including any natural
economic hedge if the cash inflow in a foreign currency matches some of the cash flows used by the underlying
operation of the Association. Exposure to currency risk is monitored on an ongoing basis and the Association’s
policy is to keep the net exposure to an acceptable level. Accordingly, the Association has minimal exposure to
foreign exchange risk at end of the reporting year.
(ii) Interest rate risk management
The Association is exposed to interest rate risk arising from lease liabilities.
Fluctuations in interest rates are not expected to have a material impact on the Association’s operating results.

(iii) Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Association. The Association’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables.
Cash and cash balances are placed with reputable financial institutions.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which are net of any allowances for
losses, represents the Association’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements.
The Association has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and customers except for the fund receivable from a single party which the Association expects
that this is collectible.
(iv) Liquidity risk management
The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that the Association has sufficient funds to meet its contractual
and financial obligations. The Association’s liquidity risk is minimal as the Association maintain sufficient cash and
bank balances through grants, donations, and sponsorships and internally generated cash flows to finance their
operating activities and committed liabilities.
IMPACT OF CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019 (“COVID-19”) OUTBREAK
As COVID-19 infection numbers continue to fall and have stabilised, the Government announced further
relaxations of safe distancing measures in order to open up the economy and adapt towards normalcy postCOVID-19. This includes allowing physical football matches to be played with the continuation of Singapore
Premier League (“SPL”) season and 2022 World Cup qualifying campaign.
Throughout the pandemic and post-COVID-19 relaxations, SportSG and other funding agencies have continued
to disburse grants to the Association to support its operations. Accordingly, the Association has determined that it
will be able maintain sufficient liquidity to enable it to continue as a going concern for at least the next 12 months
from the authorisation date of the Association’s financial statements.
c)Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.
d) Capital risk management policies and objectives
The Association reviews its capital structure at least annually to ensure that the Association will be able to
continue as a going concern. The capital structure of the Association comprises reserves and retained earnings.
The Association’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the vprior year.
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5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

Office
premises
$

Office
Furniture
Equipment Computer and fittings
$
$
$

Sports and
field equipment
$

Assets under
construction Total
$
$

At 1 April 2020
Additions
Write-off
At 31 March 2021
Additions
Adjustments
At 21 March 2022

3,917,960
30,608
3,948,568
2,870,610
6,819,178

76,285
76,285
76,285

375,944
26,839
402,783
7,770
(1,850)
408,703

2,632,009
2,632,009
51,485
(2,683,494)
-

451,611
52,670
504,281
77,159
581,440

144,130
(20,000)
124,130
46,240
170,370

4,965,930
2,742,126
(20,000)
7,688,056
3,053,265
(2,685,344)
8,055,977

(2) The Association has entered into an agreement with FIFA in relation to “FIFA Forward Development Programme”
in 2020 and received full funding from FIFA on the renovation of the office premises at Jalan Besar Stadium. In
2022, FAS received funding amounting to $255,956 (2021: $2,427,538) for the renovation of office premises.
As at 31 March 2022, all renovation works have been completed and FAS has satisfied the conditions set out in
the agreement with FIFA. Accordingly, the office premises is treated as a donated asset at zero value, offsetting
the costs of renovation with the advances received from FIFA.
6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Association if the
Association has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the
party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Association and the party are
subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.
During the year, there are no significant transactions entered with related parties.
7 INVENTORIES

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 April 2020
Depreciation for the year
Write-off
At 1 April 2021
Depreciation for the year
Write-off
At 1 April 2022
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1311,148
1,325,574
2,636,722
1,324,385
3,961,107

39,602
5,592
45,194
10,004
(1,850)
53,348

245,504
103,695
349,199
95,592
444,791

131,922
12,208
(20,000)
124,130
8,220
132,350

230,212
44,540
274,752
43,706
318,458

-

1,958,388
1,491,609
(20,000)
3,429,997
1,481,907
(1,850)
4,910,054

Net book value
At 31 March 2022

2,858,071 22,937

136,649

38,020

90,245

-

3,145,922

At 31 March 2022

1,311,846

155,082

-

128,031

2,632,009

4,258,059

31,091

(1) The Association leases several facilities in sport stadiums for office premises and Singapore Premier League.
The average lease term is 2 to 3 years. In relation to the lease of office premises, the lease term can be further
renewed in further tranches of 3 years for up to 20 years subject to agreement from the lessor.

									2022 		2021
									$ 		$
Inventories, at cost 							371,179

353,789

Inventories pertain to sponsored goods in the form of football attire and equipment.
8 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
									2022 		2021
									$		$
Trade receivables:
- third parties 								1,060,217

523,902

Loss allowance for trade receivables:
Balance at beginning of year 					
Allowance for the year 					
Balance at end of year 					

(201,580)
(201,580)

(201,580)
(245,625)
(447,205)

Net trade receivables 							613,012

322,322

Other receivables
Deposits 								73,746
Other recoverable							550,414
Advances to employees for competition and training 			
59,539
Fund receivable 							1,928,205
Advance to Singapore Premier League (“SPL”) clubs 			
108,377
Others 									132,914
										
									2,853,195

88,126
533,835
49,545
2,803,229
108,897
204,065
3,787,697
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10 RESTRICTED FUNDS

										2022 		2021
										$		$
						
Loss allowance for other receivables
(Advance to S.League clubs):
Balance at beginning of year 							
(105,496)
(105,496)
(67,410)
Allowance for the year (1) 							
Balance at end of year 							
(172,906)
(105,496)
Net other receivables 								2,680,289

3,682,201

Net trade and other receivables 						

4,004,523

3,293,301

(1) The increase of loss allowance of $67,410 during the year is to provide for the expense for Warriors Football
Club, who is the lessee of the football stadium premises. The football club went into financial difficulty and was
not able to pay for the make-good amount to reinstate the premise back into its original condition. As a result,
management provided an amount of $67,410.
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 or 60 (2021: 30 or 60) days’ terms. No
interest is charged on the overdue trade receivables. Advance to SPL clubs are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.
During the year, the Association has recognised a loss allowance of 100% against trade receivables due from
one of its debtor as the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
(ECL). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience
of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate. Management expects credit
losses on trade receivables to be immaterial.
Loss allowance for other receivables has been measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses
(ECL). The ECL on other receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience
of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate. Management expects credit
losses on other receivables to be immaterial.
9 CASH AND CASH BALANCES
										2022 		2021
										$		$
Cash at bank 									8,974,290

6,868,713

							

At 1 April 2020
Total disbursements for the year
At 31 March 2021
Total receipts for the year
Total disbursements for the year
At 31 March 2022

Care
United
$

One Team
Singapore
fund
$

Total
$

819,542
(7,000)
812,542
(14,200)
798,342

600,000
600,000
587,444
(296,351)
851,093

1,419,542
(7,000)
1,412,542
587,444
(310,551)
1,649,435

The receipts received and disbursements incurred are recorded as “Revenue and other income” and “Expenses”
respectively in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The objectives of the Funds are as follows:
Care United
The funds raised are to support community outreach programmes, which have the following three key
thrusts:
· Children Financial Assistance (CFA) Scheme;
· Transportation for Elderly Folks (TEF) Scheme; and
· Development of Women’s Football (DWF) Scheme.
One Team Singapore Fund
The One Team Singapore Fund has been created by Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth specifically for
all supporters of Team Singapore to contribute to enhance the High Performance Sport system for Singapore’s
athletes.
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13 DOMESTIC FOOTBALL LEAGUE

11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
										2022 		2021
										$ 		$
Trade payables 								880,233
Accruals 									4,723,392
Other payables 								396,980
										6,000,605

2,116,000
2,937,268
349,548
5,402,816

Fees received in advance 							3,161,831
										9,162,436

4,414,756
9,817,572

The average credit period on purchases is approximately 30 days (2021: 30 days).

										2022 		2021
										$ 		$
Income
Singapore Football League (“SFL”) Division 1 and 2 				
2,933 		
817
Expenses
SFL Division 1 and 2 								124,819
178,206
Football Association (“FA”) Cup 						- 		860
2,170
Women’s Domestic League 							16,204
Office Operating Expenses 							6,381 		2,091
										147,404 1
83,327
The participation fees of the various domestic football leagues have been waived in 2022 and 2021 and no
income is generated from the leagues.

12 LEASE LIABILITIES
										2022 		2021
										$		$

14 DONATIONS

Maturity analysis:
Year 1 										1,088,872
Year 2 										1,007,705
Year 3 										974,344
Less: Unearned interest 							(211,935)
										2,858,986

1,410,457
(31,483)
1,378,974

Analysed as:
Current 									969,638
Non-current 									1,889,348
										2,858,986

1,378,974
1,378,974

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Association’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Association’s statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

The Institution of a Public Character (“IPC”) status of Football Association of Singapore (“FAS”) has been renewed
up till 7 June 2025, under which FAS can grant tax deductions to its donors. With effect from 24 October
2008, the Association is authorised to issue tax deductible receipts to its donors. Included in donations are tax
deductible donations of $943,720 (2021: $305,419).
15 MISCELLANEOUS RECEIPTS
										2022 		2021
										$		$
Coaching course fees 								297,303
1,905
Disciplinary fines 								10,748
9,626
Rental supports from SportSG 							- 		200,786
Rental recovered from SPL clubs 						
347,898
217,332
Singapore National Employers Federation (“SNEF”)
Job Redesign grant 								40,000
68,298
Others 										36,257
81,916
										732,206
579,863
16 SPORTSG GRANT

Lease liabilities (Note 12)

Lease liabilities (Note 12)

April 1,
2021
$

Financing
cash flows
$

New lease/
Remeasurement
$

March 31,
2022
$

1,378,974

(1,390,598)

2,870,610

2,858,986

April 1,
2020
$

Financing
cash flows
$

New lease/
Remeasurement
$

March 31,
2021
$

2,779,548

(1,418,128)

17,554

1,378,974

This represents grant from SportSG to the Association as a National Sports Association. In 2019, the TOTE Board
has handed the administration of the donations to SportSG.
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17 SUBSIDIES
The subsidies are received mainly from Federation International Football Association (“FIFA”), The Asian Football
Confederation (“AFC”), ASEAN Football Federation (“AFF”) and Jobs Support Scheme (“JSS”) for local football
development.
Included in the abovementioned subsidies are wage support for local employees under JSS from the Singapore
Government amounting to $792,914 (2021: $1,266,252) as part of the Government’s measures to support
businesses during the period of economic uncertainty impacted by COVID-19.
18 OPERATING EXPENSES
										2022 		2021
										$ 		$
Bank charges									2,699 		6,203
Computer expense - website, supplies and maintenance 			
145,003
204,205
Entertainment/refreshment 							9,762 		11,591
213,471
Insurance 									133,143
Medical expenses 								12,894
9,050
Miscellaneous expenses 							380,045
665,651
Newspaper/Publications 							1,369 		1,255
Printing and stationery 								2,806 		3,315
Professional fees 								2,574 		170,350
Recruitment and training 							19,076
7,225
52,036
Repairs and maintenance 							186,129
Salaries and bonuses 								2,688,540
2,595,015
Staff welfare 									36,655
10,900
Subscription/membership 							2,275		2,060
Telephone and postage 							56,013		67,715
37,381
Transport 									19,322
Water and electricity 								9,343 		31,206
Interest expense – lease liabilities 						
17,305
48,294
157,522
166,035
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 				
647,556
648,745
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 						
										4,530,031
4,951,703
Shared services (Note 21) 							(1,551,107) (1,540,115)
2,978,924
3,411,588
Net operating expenses after shared services 					
19 ORGANISING AND TRAVELLING EXPENSES
										2022 		2021
										$ 		$
- 		
AFC Asian Youth Qualifying Rounds 						
478,552
AFC U23 Asian Cup Qualifiers 						
AFC Women’s Asian Cup Qualifiers 						
156,690
AFF U23 Championship 							49,721
AFF Championship (Suzuki Cup)						5,282,320
Friendly Matches 								961,808
FAS Tri-Nation Series (Men’s) 							326,209
World Cup Qualifying Rounds 						
38,456
										7,293,756
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8,376
(1,339)
1,161
13,045
21,243

20 REFEREE DEVELOPMENT INCOME (EXPENSES)
										2022 		2021
										$ 		$
Referee development income 							110,431
Referee development expenses 						(336,057)
										(225,626)

5,346
(241,941)
(236,595)

21 SINGAPORE PREMIER LEAGUE EXPENSES
										2022 		2021
										$		$
Singapore Premier League Competitions 					
853,007
Grants to Clubs 								8,896,804
Advertising and Broadcast Productions 					
94,488
Allowance for doubtful debts 							313,035
Salaries and related costs 							820,641
Interest expense – lease liabilities 						
16,054
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 						
676,829
Others (Excluding advertising) 							447,661
										12,118,519
*Shared services:
- Operating expenses (Note 18) 						
1,551,107
										13,669,626

791,573
8,380,249
2,759
201,580
828,053
52,449
676,829
143,840
11,077,332
1,540,115
12,617,447

* Shared services relate to expenses attributable to the Singapore Premier League included within operating
expenses (Note 18).
22 TAXATION
The Association is exempt from tax by virtue of being an approved charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37
and an Institution of Public Character under the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134.
23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
										2022 		2021
										$ 		$
Short-term employee benefits
Key management personnel:
- salaries and related costs 							
874,754
- CPF contributions 								33,154
										907,908
Other than key management personnel:
- salaries and related costs 							
6,390,618
712,689
- CPF contributions							
										7,103,307
										8,011,215

999,891
30,490
1,030,381
5,321,821
676,105
5,997,926
7,028,307

